Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: May 2, 2019 REVISED: July 8, 2019 ACCEPTED: August 6, 2019 PUBLISHED: August 30, 2019

Quantum quench in non-relativistic fermionic field theory: harmonic traps and 2d string theory

Sumit R. Das, Shaun Hampton and Sinong Liu

Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY 40506, U.S.A.

E-mail: das@pa.uky.edu, sha444@uky.edu, sinong.liu@uky.edu

ABSTRACT: We investigate a class of exactly solvable quantum quench protocols with a finite quench rate in systems of one dimensional non-relativistic fermions in external harmonic oscillator or inverted harmonic oscillator potentials, with time dependent masses and frequencies. These hamiltonians arise, respectively, in harmonic traps, and the c = 1Matrix Model description of two dimensional string theory with time dependent string coupling. We show how the dynamics is determined by a single function of time which satisfies a generalized Ermakov-Pinney equation. The quench protocols we consider asymptote to constant masses and frequencies at early times, and cross or approach a gapless potential. In a right side up harmonic oscillator potential we determine the scaling behavior of the one point function and the entanglement entropy of a subregion by obtaining analytic approximations to the exact answers. The results are consistent with Kibble-Zurek scaling for slow quenches and with perturbation calculations for fast quenches. For cis-critical quench protocols the entanglement entropy oscillates at late times around its initial value. For end-critical protocols the entanglement entropy monotonically goes to zero inversely with time, reflecting the spread of fermions over the entire line. For the inverted harmonic oscillator potential, the dual collective field description is a scalar field in a time dependent metric and dilaton background.

KEYWORDS: Field Theories in Lower Dimensions, Holography and condensed matter physics (AdS/CMT), Matrix Models, Nonperturbative Effects

ARXIV EPRINT: 1903.07682



Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Fermion field theory	6
	2.1 The general solution	6
	2.2 Solution in terms of phase space density	8
3	Quantization and the "in" state	9
	3.1 Observables	10
4	Results for fermions in harmonic oscillator potential	11
	4.1 Cis-critical protocol	12
	4.2 End critical protocol (ECP)	12
5	The response and scaling: CCP	13
	5.1 Slow quench regime	13
	5.2 Fast quench regime	15
	5.3 The exact response	16
6	The response and scaling: ECP	17
	6.1 Slow quench regime	17
	6.2 Fast quench regime	18
	6.3 The exact response	18
7	Entanglement entropy	19
8	Phase space density for harmonic oscillator potential	23
	8.1 ECP case	23
	8.2 CCP case	23
	8.3 Time evolution of perturbations along fermi surface	24
9	Discussion	28
\mathbf{A}	Approximation of $ ho(au)^2$ in various limits	29
	A.1 In CCP	29
	A.2 In ECP	33
В	Entanglement entropy	35
	B.1 $\langle N_A \rangle$	35
	B.2 $\int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y C(x,y) ^2$	36

1 Introduction

A common way to study non-equilibrium properties of quantum field theories is to subject them to a quantum quench, i.e. introduce an explicit time dependence to parameters which appear in the lagrangian. Among other things, this is interesting for several reasons. One motivation is to study equilibration and possible thermalization of these systems. Suppose the time dependent parameters approach constant values in the far past and future, and the system is initially in the ground state. The quench then excites the system. At late times, when the parameter again becomes a constant (which is generally different from the initial value), one would like to know the nature of the excited state, and if it is approximately described by a thermal state in some appropriate sense.

A second motivation — which is one of our main interests — is to study dynamics in critical phase transitions [1-5]. Suppose the initial hamiltonian is gapped, while the quench protocol crosses or approaches a critical point where the gap vanishes. On general grounds one expects that various observables would obey universal behavior.

An early example of such a universal behavior is Kibble Zurek scaling for global quenches [6–8] (where the parameters depend only on time). This holds in many systems when the time scale of the quench δt is large compared to the inverse of the initial energy gap E_g . In this case, the initial time evolution is adiabatic. However since the instantaneous gap is descreasing with time, adiabaticity breaks down at some time called the Kibble Zurek time $t_{\rm KZ}$. This is typically determined by the Landau criterion,

$$\frac{1}{E_{\rm gap}(t)^2} \frac{dE_{\rm gap}(t)}{dt}|_{t=t_{\rm KZ}} \sim 1$$
(1.1)

where $E_{\text{gap}}(t)$ is the instantaneous energy gap. This equation then determines t_{KZ} in terms of δt . According to the assumptions of Kibble and Zurek, the system soon enters a *diabatic* regime, and the instantaneous correlation length at the Kibble Zurek time is the only length scale in the problem.

In the following we will follow standard nomenclature to distinguish several classes of quench protocols. The first protocol is called a trans-critical protocol (TCP). Here the system begins in a gapped phase and the coupling varies monotonically across a critical value, and approaches a final value which also corresponds to a gapped phase. The second is called a cis-critical protocol (CCP) where the time dependence is not monotonic. Here the system starts from a gapped phase, approaches a critical point and reverts back to a constant value which also corresponds to a gapped phase. The third protocol is called a end-critical protocol (ECP). Here the system begins in a gapped phase and monotonically approaches a critical point at infinitely late time. In TCP or CCP, the response at early times then scales as appropriate power of the correlation length, leading to a scaling as some universal power of the quench time scale. For example the one point function of an operator \mathcal{O} will scale as

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \sim \xi_{\mathrm{KZ}}^{-\Delta}$$
 (1.2)

where Δ is the dimension of \mathcal{O} . For ECP, the appropriate scaling variable is the energy scale at the Kibble Zurek time. At any given time the response will be adiabatic for

sufficiently large δt , while for a small enough δt there will be Kibble Zurek regime. Such scaling behavior has been observed for entanglement entropies in model systems [9–13].

Even though these assumptions appear to be drastic, such a scaling — together with an accompanying mechanism for defect formation in symmetry breaking transitions appears to hold for many systems. Kibble Zurek scaling has been studied in a variety of solvable models and in holographic setups [14–19]. The latter provide some insight into the origins of universality. The best known results involve one point functions (e.g. defect density) and correlation functions. However similar scaling holds for the entanglement entropy of a subregion in some model 1 + 1 dimensional systems.

At the other extreme is *instantaneous* quench where a sudden change of a parameter causes the system to go from a gapped phase to a critical point abruptly. In this case, universal results are known for correlators and entanglement entropies of 1+1 dimensional systems [20–22]. Of particular interest is the spread of entanglement with time [20, 21] — this kind of spread has been conjectured to hold for higher dimensional systems [23–26] and there has been evidence for this in holographic calculations [27–32] as well as in free field theories.

More recently it has been found that in a relativistic theory there is an intermediate regime where a different universal scaling holds [33-35] — a result which was first found in holographic calculations [36-38] and later found to hold quite generally. Consider a relativistic quantum field theory in *d* dimensional space-time which is obtained by the RG flow from a UV fixed point. The action can be then written as

$$S = S_{\rm CFT} - \int dt \int d^{d-1}x \ \lambda(t) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}, t)$$
(1.3)

Here S_{CFT} stands for the conformal field theory action at the UV fixed point and Δ denotes the conformal dimension of the operator $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x},t)$ in this CFT. The time dependent coupling $\lambda(t)$ goes from a constant value λ_0 in the infinite past some other value λ_1 in the distant future, and the time dependence is in some time interval of size δt . Then this regime is defined by

$$\Lambda_{\rm UV}^{-1} \ll \delta t \ll (\delta \lambda)^{-\frac{1}{d-\Delta}}, (\lambda_{0,\pm})^{-\frac{1}{d-\Delta}}$$
(1.4)

where λ_{\pm} denote the largest and smallest value of the coupling and $\delta\lambda$ is the excursion of the coupling during the quench process. In this regime the one point function soon after the quench is over scales as

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta} \rangle \sim (\delta t)^{d-2\Delta}$$
 (1.5)

This is a result in *any* relativistic field theory, and follows from two basic properties [33–35]. The first is causality. The second property is that the causal Green's functions of a massive theory become those of the UV conformal theory for space-time separations which are small compared to the inverse mass gap. Once these properties hold, it turns out that the dimensionless parameter which controls time dependent perturbation theory is the combination of the coupling with an appropriate power of δt , and all other scales go away. This combination is small in the fast quench limit and the result (1.5) follows from the lowest order perturbation theory. This regime of scaling has been investigated explicitly

in free field theories with time dependent masses and in conformal field theories with relevant and marginal deformations [39–41]. In continuum free theories there appears to be a smooth transition between Kibble-Zurek and Fast scaling regimes [42], while in lattice theories this connects to the abrupt quench regime at quench rates at the scale of the lattice spacing [43]. Apart from one point functions, the whole range of scaling behavior is visible in quantities like the entanglement entropy [13] as well as circuit complexity [44, 45].¹

In many situations, particularly in experimental setups, one is interested in nonrelativistic systems. Our ultimate goal is to investigate whether there are universal scaling laws which hold in non-relativistic systems. While Kibble Zurek scaling is expected to hold, the status of fast quench scaling is unclear. In specific models where non-relativistic Lifshitz type dispersion relations appear, e.g. the anisotropic critical points of the Kitaev model one indeed finds fast quench scaling with appropriate scaling dimensions [43]. More generally, Lieb Robinson bounds [48] for lattice non-relativistic systems may provide the necessary ingredient. Indeed in recent work in lattice models with dynamical exponent $z \neq 1$ it has been found that the spread of entanglement following a sudden quench indeed has an effective finite velocity [49]. However, such a finite speed has been also observed in non-relativistic systems which do not obey Lieb-Robinson bound [50, 51].

In this work we study the issue of scaling in a specific solvable system: a system of N mutually non-interacting non-relativistic fermions in a harmonic or inverted harmonic potential with a time dependent frequency and a time dependent mass. Using the results of [52–54] will show how the problem of quantum quench with some *smooth quench pro-file* in such systems can be solved analytically once one can solve a nonlinear equation (Ermakov-Pinney (EP) equation). The solutions of this equation can be in turn determined in terms of the solutions of the *classical* equation of motion of a single particle in the same harmonic potential.

Indeed harmonic traps are of considerable interest in experimental cold atom physics: quantum quench experiments often involve release of particles from harmonic traps.

Our interest in the inverted harmonic oscillator potential on the other hand stems from its connection to two dimensional string theory [55–58]. As is well known, the double scaled limit of the singlet sector of the quantum mechanics of a single hermitian matrix reduces to a set of fermions in an inverted harmonic oscillator potential. The string coupling appears as the mass of the fermion. Thus two dimensional string theory with a time dependent coupling reduces to the problem of fermions with time dependent mass in such a potential.² String theory with time dependent string couplings have been studied extensively in the context of AdS/CFT to investigate thermalization via black hole formation [59, 60]. In a different context these have been used as models of AdS cosmology [61–72], but the outcome has been rather inconclusive. Here we hope to obtain exact results in a simplified situation.

¹Other aspects of time dependence of complexity following a quench have been studied earlier in [46, 47].

²Fermions in harmonic oscillator potentials also appear in the description of special states in the AdS/CFT correspondence [74–76]. Introducing a time dependent mass for such fermions naively corresponds to a time dependent coupling of the Yang-Mills theory. However this breaks supersymmetries: the truncation of matrix models and therefore fermions do not hold any more.

In this paper we will set up the formalism necessary to solve both the harmonic and inverted harmonic potential problems. We present detailed results for the problem in harmonic trap: the problem of two dimensional string theory will appear in a future publication [73].

We will solve the quantum mechanical time evolution of such a system for interesting time dependent frequencies of the CCP and ECP type and calculate the early time response of one point functions as well as entanglement entropies for a sub-region for arbitary quench rates to find the scaling behavior in various regimes. We will also explore the late time behavior of the entanglement entropy. We find Kibble-Zurek scaling for slow quenches, while for fast quenches we show that the result scales in a way which is consistent with time dependent perturbation theory. At late times the entanglement entropy in a CCP oscillates with an amplitude which appears to remain constant in time. This reflects the lack of thermalization of the system. For the ECP the entanglement entropy monotonically goes to zero as a power law in time, reflecting the fact that the particles can now spread all over space.

Such solvable systems have played a major role in providing insight into scaling properties of quantum quench in continuum relativistic theories and in spin systems which can be reduced to lattice versions of relativistic fermions [33–35, 42, 43]. As we will see, our example may not be the appropriate setup to explore a possible universal scaling at fast rates. Neverthless, we hope that these exact solutions will provide some insight into the general problem.

Abrupt quantum quench in a system of free non-relativistic fermions which arise from Matrix Quantum Mechanics with various potentials has been investigated in several papers [77–86, 89]. In particular [77, 78] has extensively studied the problem in terms of the dynamics of the Wigner phase space density, investigated approach to a generalized Gibbs ensemble and discovered interesting dynamical phase transitions. The papers [79–86] deal with the fermion problem directly in the presence of various kinds of abrupt quenches. Other aspects of the dynamics in such fermion systems (e.g. shock wave formation) have been studied in [87, 88].

The paper [89] considers the dynamics of the Wigner phase space density as well as a system of bosons and fermions using methods similar to us, in particular the EP equation. The paper [90] considers slow smooth quenches for bosons also using the EP equation. The EP equation has also been used to study entanglement dynamics following an abrupt quench in a harmonic chain in [91].

Our work is complementary to these papers. We are interested in studying scaling of various quantities as functions of the quench rate. We have been able to find exact analytic solutions to several smooth quench protocols which we use for this purpose.

In section 2 we set up the second quantized fermion field theory and show how this can be solved exactly for $\pm x^2$ potentials in terms of a function $\rho(t)$ which satisfies generalized Ermakov-Pinney equation and show how to obtain its solutions. In section 3 we quantize these theories in the Heinsenberg picture "in" state and show how observables can be expressed entirely in terms of $\rho(t)$. In section 4 we provide exact solutions for some CCP and ECP quench protocols for the harmonic problem. Sections 5–7 contain our results for the one point function of the quenched operator and the entanglement entropy for these protocols and their scaling as functions of the quench rate. Section 8 deals with comments about the behavior of the phase space density.

2 Fermion field theory

Consider a system of N non-relativistic fermions in 1 + 1 dimensions with a hamiltonian given by

$$H = \int dx \ \psi^{\dagger}(x) \left[-\frac{\hbar}{2m(t)} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \pm \frac{1}{2\hbar} m(t) \nu^2(t) x^2 \right] \psi(x)$$
(2.1)

where $m(t), \nu(t)$ are real smooth functions. The Schrödinger picture fermion field operators above satisfy the usual anti-commutation relations

$$\{\psi(x), \psi^{\dagger}(x')\} = \delta(x - x') \{\psi(x), \psi(x')\} = \{\psi^{\dagger}(x), \psi^{\dagger}(x')\} = 0$$
(2.2)

The condition that the total number of fermions is N then leads to the constraint

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \ \psi^{\dagger}(x,t)\psi(x,t) = N$$
(2.3)

The plus sign in (2.1) is the hamiltonian of particles with a time dependent mass in a harmonic trap with a time dependent frequency. The minus sign with $\nu = 1$ is the hamitonian of the singlet sector of the double scaled single hermitian matrix quantum mechanics which is dual to two dimensional string theory with a time dependent string coupling $g_s(t) = m(t)$. The Heisenberg picture equation of motion is the Schrodinger equation

$$i\frac{\partial\psi(x,t)}{\partial t} = \left[-\frac{\hbar}{2m(t)}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \pm \frac{1}{2\hbar}m(t)\nu^2(t)x^2\right]\psi(x,t)$$
(2.4)

In the following we will set $\hbar = 1$.

2.1 The general solution

In terms of a new time variable τ

$$d\tau = \frac{dt}{m(t)} \tag{2.5}$$

we can transfer the time dependence of the mass to the frequency term and (2.4) becomes

$$i\frac{\partial\psi(x,\tau)}{\partial\tau} = \left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \pm \frac{1}{2}\omega^2(\tau)x^2\right]\psi(x,\tau)$$
(2.6)

where

$$\omega(\tau) = m(t)\nu(t) \tag{2.7}$$

A solution to the equation (2.6) can be obtained in terms of the solution of the Schrödinger equation with a constant mass and a constant frequency as follows [52–54]. First define a new field $\Phi(x, \tau)$ by

$$\psi(x,\tau) = \exp[-\alpha(\tau)x^2 - \beta(\tau)] \Phi(x,\tau)$$
(2.8)

Secondly, make a change of variables

$$\tau \to T = \int^{\tau} \frac{d\tau'}{\rho(\tau')^2}$$
$$x \to y = \frac{x}{\rho(\tau)}$$
(2.9)

Then $\Phi(y,T)$ satisfies

$$i\frac{\partial\Phi(y,T)}{\partial T} = \left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} \pm \frac{1}{2}y^2\right]\Phi(y,T)$$
(2.10)

provided

$$\beta(\tau) = \log[\rho(\tau)]^{1/2} \qquad \alpha(\tau) = -i\partial_{\tau}\beta(\tau) \tag{2.11}$$

and the function $\rho(\tau)$ satisfies a generalization of the Ermakov-Pinney equation [92, 93]

$$\partial_{\tau}^2 \rho(\tau) \pm \omega(\tau)^2 \rho(\tau) = \pm \frac{1}{\rho(\tau)^3}$$
(2.12)

Here the positive sign refers to the right-side up harmonic oscillator while the negative sign refers to the inverted harmonic oscillator of relevance to the hermitian matrix model. The latter case will be discussed in detail in [73].

In the adiabatic approximation the function $\rho(\tau)$ is simply $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega(\tau)}}$. A departure from this value denotes a departure from adiabaticity and describes the exact response.

Furthermore the most general solution of (2.12) is given by

$$\rho(\tau)^2 = Af(\tau)^2 + 2Bf(\tau)g(\tau) + Cg(\tau)^2$$
(2.13)

where A, B, C are constants and $f(\tau), g(\tau)$ are two linearly independent solutions of the *classical* equation of motion of a single particle moving in a harmonic (inverted harmonic) potential with the same time dependent frequency $\omega(\tau)$

$$\partial_{\tau}^2 X \pm \omega(\tau)^2 X = 0 \tag{2.14}$$

Furthermore A, B, C must satisfy

$$AC - B^2 = \pm \frac{1}{Wr(f,g)^2}$$
(2.15)

where $Wr(f,g) = f\partial_{\tau}g - g\partial_{\tau}f$ is the wronskian of the two solutions. By the equations of motion this is a constant in time and can be therefore evaluated at any time.

The problem of fermions with a time dependent mass in a harmonic (or inverted harmonic) potential with a time dependent frequency can be therefore reduced to a problem with a constant mass and a constant frequency. The only equation one needs to solve is the classical equation (2.14). As we will see below, many quantities of physical interest can be expressed entirely in terms of the function $\rho(t) = \rho(\tau)$.

A general solution of the equation (2.10) has the form

$$\Phi_n(y,T) = N_n \ e^{-i\lambda(n)T}\phi_n(y) \tag{2.16}$$

where ϕ_n denote a complete orthonormal set of eigenfunctions of the hamiltonian given by the right hand side of (2.10) with eigenvalue f(n). Then the above discussion implies that a general solution of the equation (2.6) may be written as

$$\psi_n(x,\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho(\tau)}} \exp\left[\frac{i}{2} \frac{\partial_\tau \rho(\tau)}{\rho(\tau)} x^2\right] \Phi_n\left(\frac{x}{\rho(\tau)}, T\right)$$
(2.17)

The orthonormality conditions for the eigenfunctions $\phi_n(y)$ then imply the orthonormality conditions for the solution (2.17).

The form of the solution (2.17) reveals another physical meaning for the function $\rho(\tau)$. In the wavefunctions of a harmonic oscillator at fixed frequency ω , one can rescale out the frequency by $x \to \sqrt{\omega}x$ and $\tau \to \omega\tau$. The normalization of the wavefunction also involves $\omega^{1/4}$, as would be required by the rescaling of x. In our problem $\rho(\tau)$ almost plays the role of such a time dependent rescaling. The term which spoils this is the phase factor which involves $\partial_{\tau}\rho(\tau)$. This is of course consistent with the fact that in lowest order of adiabatic approximation $\rho(\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega(\tau)}}$.

The function $\rho(\tau)$ is given by (2.13). The independent solutions $f(\tau), g(\tau)$ and the constants A, B, C have to be chosen so that the solutions (2.17) satisfy the correct initial condition.

2.2 Solution in terms of phase space density

It will be useful to think in terms of the Wigner phase space density operator

$$u(q, p, t) = \int dx e^{ipx/\hbar} \psi^{\dagger}(q - x/2) \psi(q + x/2)$$
(2.18)

The condition (2.2) then becomes

$$u(q, p, t) \star u(q, p, t) = u(q, p, t)$$
 (2.19)

while (2.3) becomes

$$\int \frac{dqdp}{2\pi\hbar} u(q, p, t) = N \tag{2.20}$$

where \star denotes the Moyal star product. As shown in [94–96] the fermion field theory can be expressed as a path integral in terms of these variables with a co-adjoint orbit action. Formulating the theory in terms of u(p,q,t) is particularly useful in the classical limit $\hbar \to 0, N \to \infty$ with $N\hbar$ held fixed. In this limit the Moyal product reduces to an ordinary product.

In this limit the operator u(p,q,t) satisfies the equation

$$[\partial_{\tau} + p\partial_q \mp \omega^2(\tau)q\partial_p]u(p,q,\tau) = 0$$
(2.21)

If we make the change of variables

$$\tau \to T = \int^{\tau} d\tau' \frac{1}{\rho(\tau')^2}$$

$$q \to Q = \frac{q}{\rho(\tau)}$$

$$p \to P = p\rho(\tau) - q\partial_{\tau}\rho(\tau)$$
(2.22)

the function

$$U(P,Q,T) = u(p,q,t)$$
 (2.23)

satisfies

$$[\partial_T + P\partial_Q \mp Q\partial_P]U(P,Q,T) = 0 \tag{2.24}$$

provided (2.13) holds.

This transformation is in fact a canonical transformation. Therefore the condition (2.20) that u(p, q, t) describes N fermions transforms into the condition

$$\int dP dQ \ u(P,Q,T) = N \tag{2.25}$$

The equation (2.24) is the equation satisfied by the phase space density operator for a system of fermions which is in an external harmonic (or inverted harmonic) potential with unit mass and unit frequency. Therefore once we know the solution for this latter case, we can find a solution of the time dependent case in terms of a solution of the equation (2.12).

3 Quantization and the "in" state

The quantization of the fermionic field theory proceeds in a standard fashion. Given a complete set of modes $\{\psi_n(x,\tau)\}$ which solve the equations of motion the Heisenberg picture field operators may be expressed as

$$\psi(x,\tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \ \psi_n(x,\tau)$$

$$\psi^{\dagger}(x,\tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n^{\dagger} \ \psi_n^*(x,\tau)$$
(3.1)

where the oscillators satisfy the standard anti-commutation relations

$$\{a_m, a_n^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{mn} \quad \{a_n, a_m\} = \{a_m^{\dagger}, a_n^{\dagger}\} = 0 \tag{3.2}$$

Different choices of modes determine different inequivalent quantizations related by Bogoliubov transformations.

We will be interested in profiles of $m(t), \nu(t)$ such that they approach constant values $m_{\rm in}$ and $\nu_{\rm in}$ as $t \to -\infty$, and their time derivatives approach zero. Furthermore we will have choices of m(t) such that when $t \to -\infty$, one also has $\tau \to -\infty$. In particular our choices of m(t) are such that as $t \to -\infty$, we have $m(t) \to m_{\rm in}$ so that $\tau \to \frac{1}{m_{\rm in}}t$. The equation (2.12) means that $\rho(t) = \rho(\tau)$ has the initial condition

$$\operatorname{Lim}_{\tau \to -\infty} \rho(\tau) = \rho_{\rm in} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{m_{\rm in}}\nu_{\rm in}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega_{\rm in}}}$$
(3.3)

The corresponding solution ψ_n in (3.1) must then have the property that this is positive frequency in the far past,

$$\operatorname{Lim}_{\tau \to \infty} \psi_n(x,\tau) \sim e^{-i\alpha\tau} \qquad \alpha > 0 \tag{3.4}$$

We will consider the Heisenberg picture state which is the "in" ground state,

$$a_n |in\rangle = 0 \qquad n \ge N$$

$$a_n^{\dagger} |in\rangle = 0 \qquad 0 \le n \le N - 1 \qquad (3.5)$$

3.1 Observables

The observables we will be interested in are the expectation value of the quenched operator and the entanglement entropy. We will now show that both these quantities can be expressed in terms of the corresponding quantities in the time independent problem and the function $\rho(\tau)$.

In the following we will consider the expectation value of the operator

$$\mathcal{O}(\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \ x^2 \psi^{\dagger}(x,\tau)\psi(x,\tau)$$
(3.6)

This is the operator which comes multiplied by the time dependent coupling $\omega^2(\tau)$ once the theory is expressed in the time variable τ . In the spirit of response theory, the expectation value then measures the response of the system to the external driving. $\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau) \rangle$ of our problem can be expressed simply in terms of the expectation value of the quenched operator in an auxiliary problem of a harmonic oscillator with unit mass and frequency, using (2.17)

$$\langle in|\mathcal{O}(\tau)|in\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \ x^2 \ \psi_n^*(x,\tau)\psi_n(x,\tau)$$
(3.7)

Using (2.16) and (2.17) this becomes, after a change of variables,

$$\langle in|\mathcal{O}(\tau)|in\rangle = \rho^2(\tau) \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dY Y^2 \phi_n^*(Y) \phi_n(Y) = \rho(\tau)^2 \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (n+1/2) = \frac{N^2}{2} \rho(\tau)^2 \quad (3.8)$$

where we have used the fact that the integral on the right hand side is the expectation value of the potential energy of a single harmonic oscillator with unit frequency in the state with quantum number n, and used the standard result.

For fermionic systems, the entanglement entropy of a subregion A has an expansion in terms of cumulants of the particle number distribution [97–102]. In the leading order of large N the dominant term is the variance of the expectation value of the particle number in A,

$$S_A(\tau) = \frac{\pi^2}{3} [\langle N_A(\tau)^2 \rangle - \langle N_A(\tau) \rangle^2]$$
(3.9)

where the operator N_A is given by

$$N_A(\tau) = \int_A dx \psi^{\dagger}(x,\tau)\psi(x,\tau)$$
(3.10)

where the integral is over the region A.

This simplifies for the "in" state. Using the mode expansion (3.1) and the state defined in (3.5) it may be easily shown that

$$S_A(\tau) = \langle in|N_A(\tau)|in\rangle - \int_A dx \int_A dy |C(x,y,\tau)|^2$$
(3.11)

where

$$C(x, y, \tau) = \langle in|\psi^{\dagger}(x, \tau)\psi(y, \tau)|in\rangle$$
(3.12)

This quantity can be also expressed entirely in terms of the expectation value of the phase density operator as follows

$$S_{A} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dp \int_{A} dx \langle in|u(p, x, \tau)|in \rangle - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dp_{1} dp_{2} \int_{A} dx dy \ e^{-i(p_{2}-p_{1})(x-y)} \langle in|u(p_{1}, (x+y)/2, \tau)|in \rangle \langle in|u(p_{2}, (x+y)/2, \tau)|in \rangle$$
(3.13)

Expressing the above expectation values in terms of the mode functions one has

$$\langle in|N_{A}(\tau)|in\rangle = \int_{A} dx \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \psi_{n}^{*}(x,\tau)\psi_{n}(x,\tau)$$
$$C(x,y,\tau) = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \psi_{n}^{*}(x,\tau)\psi_{n}(y,\tau)$$
(3.14)

Using (2.17) it then follows that the entanglement entropy can be expressed in terms of the entanglement entropy of a rescaled region in the ground state of the theory with a constant mass and frequency. If the subregion A is defined by $a \le x \le b$ then the rescaled subegion is defined by

$$S_A[\omega(\tau)] = S_{A_P}[\omega = 1] \qquad A_P : \frac{a}{\rho(\tau)} \le x \le \frac{b}{\rho(\tau)}$$
(3.15)

4 Results for fermions in harmonic oscillator potential

For the right side up harmonic oscillator, the two independent solutions of the equation (2.14) may be therefore chosen to be such that

$$\operatorname{Lim}_{\tau \to -\infty} f(\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_{\text{in}}}} e^{-i\omega_{\text{in}}\tau} \qquad g(\tau) = [f(\tau)]^*$$
(4.1)

To ensure that $\rho(\tau)$ is real we then need to choose

$$A = C = 0 \qquad B = 1 \tag{4.2}$$

Therefore for this solution we have

$$\rho(\tau) = \sqrt{2} |f(\tau)| \tag{4.3}$$

This yields the final form of the solution

$$\psi_n(x,\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2^n n!}} \left[\frac{1}{\pi \rho(\tau)^2} \right]^{1/4} \exp\left[-i(n+1/2) \int^{\tau} \frac{dt'}{\rho(\tau)^2} \right]$$

$$\exp\left[\frac{i}{2} \left(\partial_{\tau} \log \rho(\tau) + \frac{i}{\rho(\tau)^2} \right) x^2 \right] H_n(x/\rho(\tau))$$
(4.4)

where $H_n(x)$ denotes the n-th order Hermite polynomial. This solution approaches the normalized solutions of the Schrödinger equation with a frequency $\omega_{\rm in}$ as $\tau \to -\infty$. The oscillators in (3.1) with these modes are in the "in" oscillators.

We now provide exactly solvable quench protocols for fermions with a fixed mass m in a harmonic oscillator potential with time dependent frequencies. The two times t and τ are then related by $\tau = t/m$.

4.1 Cis-critical protocol

The first protocol is a cis-critical-protocol (CCP). As described in the introduction in such a protocol the system starts from a gapped phase, approaches a critical point and then turns back to another constant value. In this work we choose a protocol where the initial and the final values are the same. More specifically we choose

$$\omega(\tau)^2 = \omega_0^2 \tanh^2(\tau/\delta t) \tag{4.5}$$

This corresponds to a trap which is smoothly removed for a finite interval of time and then re-introduced.

The solution to the equation (2.14) which behaves as $e^{-i\omega_0\tau}$ is then given by

$$f_{\rm CCP}(\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \frac{2^{i\omega_0 \delta t} \cosh^{2\alpha}(\tau/\delta t)}{E_{1/2} \tilde{E}'_{3/2} - E'_{1/2} \tilde{E}_{3/2}} \times \left\{ \tilde{E}'_{3/2} \ _2F_1\left(a, b; \frac{1}{2}; -\sinh^2\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right) + E'_{1/2} \sinh\frac{\tau}{\delta t} \ _2F_1\left(a + \frac{1}{2}, b + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\sinh^2\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right) \right\}$$
(4.6)

where we defined

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{4} \left[1 + \sqrt{1 - 4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2} \right]$$

$$a = \alpha - \frac{i}{2} \omega_0 \delta t, \qquad b = \alpha + \frac{i}{2} \omega_0 \delta t$$

$$E_{1/2} = \frac{\Gamma(1/2)\Gamma(b-a)}{\Gamma(b)\Gamma(1/2-a)}, \quad \tilde{E}_{3/2} = \frac{\Gamma(3/2)\Gamma(b-a)}{\Gamma(b+1/2)\Gamma(1-a)}$$

$$E'_c = E_c(a \leftrightarrow b)$$
(4.7)

The key function $\rho(\tau)$ is then given by (4.3) with $f(\tau)$ given by (4.6).

4.2 End critical protocol (ECP)

Another solvable quench protocol is the end critical protocol where the initial theory is a harmonic oscillator with a frequency ω_0 which monotonically descreases smoothly to a vanishing frequency at infinitely late times. This corresponds to a *smooth* release from a harmonic trap.

Consider the slightly more general protocol

$$\omega^{2}(\tau) = \omega_{0}^{2} \left(a + b \tanh \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right)$$
(4.8)

with the real constants a, b chosen such that a > b to ensure reality of $\omega(\tau)$. Then the "in" solution of the equation (2.14) is given by

$$f_{\rm ECP} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_{\rm in}}} \exp[-i\omega_+\tau - i\omega_-\delta t\log(2\cosh(\tau/\delta t))]$$

$${}_2F_1 \left[1 + i\omega_-\delta t, i\omega_-\delta t; 1 - i\omega_{\rm in}\delta t; \frac{1}{2}(1 + \tanh(\tau/\delta t))\right]$$

$$(4.9)$$

where we defined

$$\omega_{\rm in} = \omega_0 \sqrt{a - b},$$

$$\omega_{\rm out} = \omega_0 \sqrt{a + b},$$

$$\omega_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} (\omega_{\rm out} \pm \omega_{\rm in})$$
(4.10)

The end critical protocol we consider has $a = -b = \frac{1}{2}$. The function $\rho(\tau)$ which determines the time dependence of the observables considered above is shown in figure 1 for both these types of protocol.

At early times $\rho(-\infty) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_{\text{in}}}}$. For ECP $\rho(\tau)$ monotonically increases and behaves as $\rho(\tau) \sim \tau$ at large τ . For CCP $\rho(\tau)$ initially increases and then starts oscillating. At late times these oscillations are around a mean value which is roughly the initial value $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega}}$ with an amplitude which remains constant in time and with a frequency approximately given by ω_0 .

5 The response and scaling: CCP

In this section we present the results of the expectation value of the quenched operator $\mathcal{O} = \int dx x^2 \psi^{\dagger} \psi$ at early times for CCP (equation (4.5)) and investigate their scaling behavior in various regimes. The details of the analytic approximations which lead to these results are given in appendix A.

5.1 Slow quench regime

In the slow quench regime $\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$ we can use the asymptotic form of gamma functions

$$\Gamma(z) \sim \sqrt{2\pi} e^{-z + \left(z - \frac{1}{2}\right) \log z}, z \to \infty$$
(5.1)

to obtain $\rho(\tau = 0)$. The leading expression for the one point function $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle$ at $\tau = 0$ is, using (3.8),

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(0) \rangle \sim \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2} N^2 \sqrt{\frac{\delta t}{\omega_0}}$$
 (5.2)

This result is consistent with Kibble-Zurek scaling. The Landau criterion with the instantaneous frequency given by (4.5) leads to

$$\frac{1}{\omega_0 \delta t} \operatorname{cosech}^2(\tau_{\rm KZ}/\delta t) = 1$$
(5.3)



Figure 1. Relation between $\rho(\tau)$ and τ in various $\omega_0 \delta t$ cases.

which defines the Kibble-Zurek time $\tau_{\rm KZ}$. We expect a scaling behavior only when $\tau_{\rm KZ} \ll \delta t$. In this regime (5.3) leads to

$$\tau_{\rm KZ} = \sqrt{\frac{\delta t}{\omega_0}} \tag{5.4}$$

The condition $\tau_{\text{KZ}} \ll \delta t$ then becomes consistent with the slow quench condition $\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$. This leads to the instantaneous frequency at the Kibble-Zurek time,

$$\omega_{\rm KZ}^2 = \frac{\omega_0}{\delta t} \tag{5.5}$$

According to the Kibble-Zurek argument $\rho(\tau)$ in the middle of the quench (which is $\tau = 0$) is roughly equal to its value at $\tau = \tau_{\text{KZ}}$. Since the system is approximately adiabatic at $\tau = \tau_{\text{KZ}}$ this is in turn roughly equal to $\rho_{\text{adia}}(\tau_{\text{KZ}})$, the value of ρ for the fermions in a harmonic oscillator potential with a constant frequency ω_{KZ} . From (2.12) this is simply

$$\rho(\tau_{\rm KZ}) \sim \rho_{\rm adia}(\tau_{\rm KZ}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega_{\rm KZ}}}$$
(5.6)

leading to

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \sim \frac{N^2}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\delta t}{\omega_0}}$$
 (5.7)

which is in agreement with the result from the exact solution (5.2) upto a numerical factor.

5.2 Fast quench regime

We now consider the regime $\omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$. While we have the exact answer anyway, we are able to approximate the answer by suitable expansions and obtain analytic expressions when we have in addition $\omega_0 \tau \ll 1$. The latter are useful to make a comparison with perturbation calculations.

First consider the response at a time τ which is in the range

$$\omega_0 \tau \ll \omega_0 \delta t \ll 1 \tag{5.8}$$

In this case, for the CCP (equation (4.5) we get an expression (see appendix A.1, equations (A.8)-(A.18),

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau) \rangle \approx \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0} \left\{ 1 + 2\log 2 \cdot \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 + 2\omega_0^2 \delta t \cdot \tau + \mathcal{O}\left(\omega_0^4 \delta t^4, \frac{\tau^2}{\delta t^2}\right) \right\}$$
(5.9)

This is the response at early times. At late times, (see equations (A.19) to (A.28))

$$\omega_0 \delta t \ll \omega_0 \tau \ll 1 \tag{5.10}$$

one gets instead

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \sim \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0} \left(1 + 2\omega_0 \delta t \sin 2\omega_0 \tau + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^2 \delta t^2) \right)$$
 (5.11)

These results should also follow from usual time dependent perturbation theory. Let us discuss this for a general perturbation $\delta\omega(\tau)^2$ from the initial value. The leading term in the perturbation expansion is

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau) \rangle = \langle \mathcal{O}(-\infty) \rangle$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} d\tau' \int dx \int dx' \ (xx')^2 \delta\omega(\tau')^2 \langle 0 | [\psi^{\dagger}(x,\tau)\psi(x,\tau),\psi^{\dagger}(x',\tau')\psi(x',\tau')] | 0 \rangle_{\omega_0}$$

$$(5.12)$$

where $\langle \rangle_{\omega_0}$ denotes the expectation value in the ground state of the theory at $\tau \to -\infty$ which is the harmonic oscillator with a constant frequency ω_0 and

$$\delta\omega(\tau)^2 = \omega(\tau)^2 - \omega_0^2 \tag{5.13}$$



Figure 2. (Colour online) The response $\rho^2/(2\delta t) = \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle/(N^2 \delta t)$ as a function of $\omega_0 \delta t$ for CCP when $\tau = 0$. The black dashed curve is the exact result obtained by using (4.6). The blue curve is the leading Kibble Zurek result for $\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$, i.e. eq. (5.7). The red curve is the leading behavior when $\omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$, i.e. eq. (5.9). The green curve is the perturbation expansion result i.e. eq. (5.15).

The Green's function which appears in the linear response can be calculated. The result is

$$G(\tau, \tau') = \theta(\tau - \tau') \int dx \int dx' \ x^2 \ (x')^2 \ \langle 0 | [\psi^{\dagger}(x, \tau)\psi(x, \tau), \psi^{\dagger}(x', \tau')\psi(x', \tau')] | 0 \rangle_{\omega_0}$$

= $-\theta(\tau - \tau') \frac{N^2}{\omega_0^2} \sin[2\omega_0(\tau - \tau')]$ (5.14)

Now consider evaluating the response at a time which is of the order of $\tau \sim +\delta t$. In the fast quench regime $\omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$. The limits of the integral in (5.14) can be replaced by $(-\delta t, \delta t)$. Suppose the form of $\delta \omega(\tau)^2$ is $\delta \omega(\tau)^2 = \delta \omega_0^2 f(\tau/\delta t)$ where δt is the time scale of the quench and f(x) some smooth function. Using the above form of the Green's function the linear response becomes in the fast quench regime

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau) \rangle - \langle \mathcal{O}(-\infty) \rangle \sim \delta \omega_0^2 \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0^2} \int_{-\delta t}^{\delta t} d\tau' f(\tau'/\delta t) \sin[2\omega_0(\tau - \tau')]$$

$$\sim \delta \omega_0^2 \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0^2} \omega_0 \delta t^2$$
 (5.15)

In the protocol we are using $\delta \omega_0^2 = \omega_0^2$ and $f(\tau/\delta t) = \operatorname{sech}^2(\tau/dt)$. We therefore reproduce the scaling in (5.9).

5.3 The exact response

The exact response for CCP is shown in figure 2. This shows that the analytic approximatations in the fast and slow regime agree very well with the exact answer, and the transition between the two regimes is rather sharp.

6 The response and scaling: ECP

The investigation of the scaling behavior for the ECP case (4.8) follows along lines similar to CCP.

6.1 Slow quench regime

In the slow quench regime $(\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1)$ one expects a Kibble Zurek scaling. For the protocol (4.8) the Landau criterion determining the Kibble-Zurek time $t_{\rm KZ}$ becomes

$$\frac{1}{\cosh^2(\tau_{\rm KZ}/\delta t)(1-\tanh(\tau_{\rm KZ}/\delta t))^{3/2}} \sim \omega_0 \delta t \tag{6.1}$$

For $\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$ the solution can appear only at late times. This yields

$$\tau_{\rm KZ} \sim \delta t \log(\omega_0 \delta t) \tag{6.2}$$

In this case the instantaneous gap vanishes in the infinite future. This means that in the slow quench regime adiabaticity will fail at late times. The frequency at this time is

$$\omega_{\rm KZ} = \omega_0 \sqrt{\frac{1 - \tanh(\tau_{\rm KZ}/\delta t)}{2}} \sim \frac{1}{\delta t}$$
(6.3)

Therefore the standard Kibble Zurek argument would predict that the response at late times is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \sim \frac{1}{2} N^2 \rho(\tau_{\rm KZ})^2 = \frac{N^2}{2\omega_{\rm KZ}} \sim \frac{1}{2} N^2 \delta t$$
 (6.4)

At a time earlier than the Kibble Zurek time i.e. when

$$\tau < \delta t \log(\omega_0 \delta t), \tag{6.5}$$

the adiabatic approximation is valid. Therefore if one measures the response at some fixed value of $\tau/\delta t = \zeta$ we should have

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \sim \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0 \sqrt{\frac{1-\tanh(\tau/\delta t)}{2}}} \sim \frac{N^2}{\sqrt{2}\omega_0 \sqrt{1-\tanh\zeta}}$$
(6.6)

This expectation needs refinement. Using the exact solution we can perform an expansion for $\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$ and for $\tau \gg \delta t \log \omega_0 \delta t$. We find that the leading term of $\rho^2(\tau)$ is

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) \sim \delta t \left[\frac{2}{\pi} \left(-\log \omega_{0} \delta t + \log 2 - \gamma_{E} + \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right)^{2} + \frac{\pi}{2} \right] \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$$
(6.7)

The additional logarithmic dependence is not easily visible from the naive Kibble-Zurek argument.

6.2 Fast quench regime

In the fast quench regime one can get an analytic expression

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) \sim \omega_{0} \delta t^{2} \left(-\frac{\zeta(3)}{4} \omega_{0}^{2} \delta t^{2} + \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} = \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} + \omega_{0} \tau^{2} - \frac{\zeta(3)}{2} (\omega_{0} \delta t)^{3} \tau.$$
(6.8)

at late times, i.e. $\omega_0 \delta t \ll \omega_0 \tau \ll 1$. Details of calculation which leads to (6.8) are summarized in appendix A.2.

The limit $\delta t \to 0$ is smooth. In this limit the expression (6.8) reduces to the result which is obtained in an abrupt quench where the frequency suddenly changes from ω_0 to zero,

$$\rho_{\rm abrupt}^2(\tau) = \frac{1}{\omega_0} [1 + (\omega_0 \tau)^2]$$
(6.9)

In relativistic theories this limit is non-trivial because of UV divergences, as discussed in [33–35].

Once again the answer should be obtainable by a perturbation expansion in $\omega_0 \delta t$. Again let $\delta \omega(\tau)^2 = \omega_0^2 f(\tau/\delta t)$, where

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x < -1; \\ \frac{1+x}{2}, & -1 \le x \le 1; \\ 1, & x > 1. \end{cases}$$
(6.10)

Then at late times,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\tau) \rangle - \langle \mathcal{O}(-\infty) \rangle \sim \omega_0^2 \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0^2} \int_{-\delta t}^{\tau} d\tau' \ f(\tau'/\delta t) \sin[2\omega_0(\tau - \tau')]$$
$$\sim \frac{N^2}{2\omega_0} \sin^2 \omega_0 \tau.$$
 (6.11)

Thus $\omega_0 \tau \ll 1$ the perturbation expansion gives a good approximation.

6.3 The exact response

The above discussion shows that for the ECP it is useful to look at the response for a *fixed* value of $\tau/\delta t = \zeta$. Our analytic approximations then predict

$$\frac{2\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle}{N^2 \delta t} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\omega_0 \delta t} + (\omega_0 \delta t) \zeta^2 : & \omega_0 \delta t \ll 1\\ \text{constant} & : 1 \ll \omega_0 \delta t \ll e^{\zeta}\\ \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(\omega_0 \delta t) \sqrt{1 - \tanh(\zeta)}} : & \omega_0 \delta t \gg e^{\zeta} \end{cases}$$

Figure 3 shows how the exact result compares with the above expectations. Here we plot the quantity $\rho^2/\delta t = 2\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle/(N^2 \delta t)$ as a function of $\omega_0 \delta t$ for different values of ζ . For very small $\omega_0 \delta t$ one reproduces the abrupt quench result. For slightly larger $\omega_0 \delta t$ we can see the fast quench correction predicted in (6.8). To investigate the behavior in the fast quench regime, it is useful to subtract the abrupt quench response. The quantity $|\rho^2(\tau) - \rho_{\rm abrupt}^2(\tau)|/\delta t$ is plotted in figure 4. This quantity is close to zero (and slightly negative)



Figure 3. (Colour online) The response $\rho^2(\tau)/\delta t$ as a function of $\omega_0 \delta t$ for ECP. The dots are the exact results obtained by using (4.9) for fixed values of $\zeta = \tau/\delta t = 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12$ which are colored from red to blue respectively. The grey dot on each curve corresponds to $\omega_0 \delta t = e^{\zeta}$ for that particular ζ . Thus all points in the yellow shaded region are in the adiabatic regime. The points which lie in the blue shaded region have $1 < \omega_0 \delta t < e^{\zeta}$. For larger values of ζ there is a small window in this regime where $\rho^2(\tau)/\delta t$ is roughly constant which is the expectation from Kibble Zurek scaling. The slight increase is consistent with the logarithmic term in (6.7). The dark red and dark blue solid lines are the linear fitting (log $y = P \log x + Q$) results of red ($\tau/\delta t = 0$) and blue dots ($\tau/\delta t = 12$) when $\omega_0 \delta t \gg e^{\tau/\delta t}$ (yellow region), respectively. Both the slopes P are approximately -1. The orange, blizzard blue and light blue solid curves in the fast quench regime ($\omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$) are the sudden quench result (6.9) for $\tau/\delta t = 2, 6, 10$, respectively. For $\omega_0 \delta t < 1$ the data points lie on these solid lines. For $\omega_0 \delta t > 1$ they continue to lie on the solid lines for a while and then depart from them, reflecting the $O(\omega^3 \delta t^3)$ terms in (6.8).

for sufficiently small $\omega_0 \delta t$. For larger $\omega_0 \delta t$ this becomes positive and in a reasonable range of $\omega_0 \delta t$ this is consistent with the $(\omega_0 \delta t)^3$ term in the fast quench response, equation (6.8) which are shown by solid lines. Note that the cusps in the data appear because the quantity $\rho^2(\tau) - \rho_{abrupt}^2(\tau)$ changes sign and we are plotting the absolute value — there is nothing singular here.

For sufficiently large values of $\omega_0 \delta t$ this quantity is proportional to $1/(\omega_0 \delta t)$ with a proportionality constant which depends on ζ , as expected from an adiabatic response. There is a small window in the intermediate regime where $\rho^2(\tau)/\delta t$ is roughly constant upto a logarithmic dependence as in (6.7).

7 Entanglement entropy

In this section we present the results for the entanglement entropy of a subregion, its scaling at early times and the time dependence at late times. As argued above, the entanglement entropy in a given subregion for a time dependent frequency can be expressed entirely



Figure 4. (Colour online) The response $\frac{|\rho^2(\tau)-\rho_{abrupt}^2(\tau)|}{\delta t}$ as a function of $\omega_0 \delta t$ for ECP. The dots are the exact results obtained by using (4.9) for fixed values of $\zeta = \tau/\delta t = 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12$ which are colored from red to blue respectively. The vertical gridline $\omega_0 \delta t = 1$ is the threshold between fast quench and slow quench. The dashed lines are a set of cubic functions $y = ax^3$, where a = 10, 45, 80, 115 from the lowest one to the highest one, respectively to compare with the leading term in (6.8).

in terms of the entanglement entropy of a *scaled* subregion for the system at fixed unit frequency, with the scaling factor given by $\rho(\tau)$ (eq. (3.15)). In the following we will examine the behavior of the entanglement entropy for a subregion $-a \leq x \leq a$. We will also be interested in the limit $N \gg 1$ so that we can use the expression (3.11).

We will be interested in the entanglement entropy for a subregion size

$$\frac{a}{\rho(\tau)} \ll \sqrt{N} \tag{7.1}$$

For ECP the function $\rho(\tau)$ monotonically increases with time, so this condition is equivalent to the condition $\sqrt{\omega_0}a \ll 1$ since $\rho(-\infty) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega_0}}$ — the monotonicity then implies that once we impose (7.1) at the initial time, this will continue to hold for all times. For CCP the function $\rho(\tau)$ oscillates roughly around $\rho(-\infty)$ with an amplitude which is roughly constant in time: once we pick a value of *a* such that this condition is satisfied at some sufficiently large time, this will continue to be satisfied for all times.

The expression for entanglement entropy at large N can be written down using (3.11), (3.12) and (3.15) by using the Christoffel-Darboux formula for orthogonal polynomials

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{H_k(x)H_k(y)}{k!2^k} = \frac{1}{n!2^{n+1}} \frac{H_n(y)H_{n+1}(x) - H_n(x)H_{n+1}(y)}{x-y}.$$
(7.2)

This leads to

$$\langle N_A \rangle = \frac{1}{\Gamma(N) 2^N \sqrt{\pi}} \int_{A_P} d\xi e^{-\xi^2} \left[H_{N-1}(\xi) H'_N(\xi) - H'_{N-1}(\xi) H_N(\xi) \right] (7.3)$$

$$\int_{A_P \times A_P} dx dy |C(x,y)|^2 = -\frac{1}{\pi 2^{2N} (\Gamma(N))^2}$$

$$\times \int_{A_P \times A_P} d\xi d\eta e^{-(\xi^2 + \eta^2)} \left(\frac{H_{N-1}(\eta) H_N(\xi) - H_{N-1}(\xi) H_N(\eta)}{\xi - \eta}\right)^2$$
(7.4)

where the notation $A_P \times A_P$ means that the integrals go over the range defined by A_P . These expressions simplify in two regimes. First consider the regime

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \ll \frac{a}{\rho(\tau)} \ll \sqrt{N} \tag{7.5}$$

Then one gets, using (3.11)

$$S_A \propto \frac{1}{\pi^2} \left\{ 1 + \gamma_E + \log \left[4\sqrt{2N} \frac{a}{\rho(\tau)} \right] \right\}$$
(7.6)

where γ_E is Euler's constant. The derivation (7.6) is given in appendix B.

The logarithmic dependence on the subsystem size is characterisic of 1 + 1 dimensional systems. For relativistic systems the scale is provided by a UV cutoff. For free non-relativistic fermions on a line the entanglement entropy is finite with the UV cutoff replaced by N [103, 104]. A similar result holds for fermions in an invererted harmonic oscillator potential [103–105]. For fermions in a harmonic oscillator potential with a constant frequency this logarithmic dependence has been shown in the so called "bulk limit" in [106].

For CCP protocols, $\rho(\tau)$ oscillates and the condition (7.5) continues to hold once it is imposed at early times. However for the ECP $\rho(\tau)$ monotonically increases so that at very late times the condition $\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \ll \frac{a}{\rho(\tau)}$ will be violated. It turns out, however, that for the regime

$$\frac{a}{\rho(\tau)} \ll \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \tag{7.7}$$

one can use a different approximation which yields

$$S_A \propto \frac{\sqrt{N}}{\pi} \frac{a}{\rho(\tau)}$$
 (7.8)

Note that the entanglement entropy is now proportional to a. However the proportionality constant decreases steadily as $\frac{1}{\tau}$ since the function $\rho(\tau) \sim \tau$ at late times. The derivation of (7.8) is given in appendix B.

Plots of the time dependence of the entanglement entropy in various cases are shown in figure 5. For the cis-critical protocol, the function $\rho(\tau)$ oscillates after an initial increase, so that the effective size of the interval in the equivalent constant frequency problem also oscillates. This would lead to oscillations in the entanglement entropy as well.

For ECP, however, $\rho(\tau)$ decreases continuously. This means that for a given *a* the effective value of the interval in the equivalent constant frequency problem keeps decreasing



Figure 5. Time evolution of Entanglement Entropy $S_A(\tau)$ in various cases. Red dots are exact large N result from (7.4). Blue solid lines are results (7.6) in the regime (7.5). N = 50, a = 1.

with time. This should also mean that the entanglement entropy keeps desceasing with time. This is basically because as the fermions are released from the trap they simply spread out: both $\langle N_A \rangle$ and $\langle (\Delta N_A)^2 \rangle$ keep decreasing leading to a loss of entanglement. It follows from (7.8) that at late times the entanglement entropy goes to zero as a power law $\sim \frac{1}{\tau}$.

8 Phase space density for harmonic oscillator potential

In this section we present the time evolution of the Wigner Distribution function, also called the phase space density, $u(x, p, \tau)$, under CCP and ECP quench protocols in a right side up harmonic oscillator potential. In the classical limit, which is given by $\hbar \to 0, N \to \infty$ with $N\hbar =$ fixed, $u(x, p, \tau)$ can only take values of 0, 1 since no two fermions can occupy the same position and momentum. A value of 1 corresponds to the presence of one fermion within a phase space volume between q and q + dq and p and p + dp.

Using the canonical transformations in (2.22), we can write the time evolved phase space density as a function of the original coordinates as

$$u\left(\frac{q}{\rho}, p\rho - q\dot{\rho}, \tau\right) = \theta\left(2E_f - \left(\left(\frac{q}{\rho}\right)^2 + (p\rho - q\dot{\rho})^2\right)\right)$$
(8.1)

Here E_f is the fermi level and defines the boundary of the phase space density, i.e. the fermi surface. θ is the Heaviside step function which satisfies the relations

$$\theta(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & x \ge 0\\ 0, & x < 0 \end{cases}$$
(8.2)

Equation (8.1) takes a value of 1 for q, p which satisfy the relation $2E_f \ge (\frac{q}{\rho})^2 + (p\rho - q\dot{\rho})^2$. This will produce what we call a phase space 'droplet'. As time evolves, the shape of this 'droplet' will evolve according to the chosen quench protocol. We present the results for the ECP and CCP cases.

8.1 ECP case

Here we discuss the time evolution of (8.1) for the ECP case that has a ρ which is given in (4.3) and (4.9).

In figure 6 we see that the phase space 'droplet' spreads out in the upper right and lower left quadrants. This corresponds to motion along both directions of the infinite line. Since we are quenching to zero potential, we are 'freeing' the fermions from the harmonic trap and they begin to spread over the real line. The rate at which the 'droplet' spreads is related to δt , the timescale of the quench protocol.

8.2 CCP case

Here we discuss the time evolution of (8.1) for the CCP case that has a ρ which is given in (4.3) and (4.6).

In figure 7 we see that the phase space 'droplet' initially spreads out and then begins to rotate in a clockwise fashion. This rotation comes from the oscillatory nature of ρ in the CCP case for $\tau > 0$. We can understand the physical origin of this rotation. We are quenching from a potential of frequency ω_0 , to 0, back to ω_0 over a timescale of δt . The fermions initially just spread along the real line as the potential barrier goes to zero just as in the ECP case. However, when the barrier is restored to its original value, the fermions hit the edge of the restored barrier and then reflect back. This reflection is indicated by the rotation of the stretched droplet in a clockwise fashion. As time evolves the stretched



Figure 6. Time evolution of a contour plot of the Wigner Distribution function in the classical limit for the ECP case. The black region corresponds to u = 1 and the white region corresponds to u = 0. We have taken $\delta t = 1$, $\omega_0 = 1$. The radius of the initial droplet is $\sqrt{2E_f} = 2\sqrt{2}$ and the area, which is conserved in time, is $N\hbar = 2\pi E_f$.

droplet will continue to rotate indefinitely as the electrons keep reflecting off the walls of the potential barrier.

8.3 Time evolution of perturbations along fermi surface

In the previous subsection, we demonstrated the time evolution of a phase space 'droplet' under the influence of a right side up harmonic oscillator potential with a time dependent frequency. In this subsection we consider the time evolution of a perturbation of the fermi surface of this 'droplet'. We would like to know how this perturbation evolves in time. To gain a better understanding of what happens in this case, let us first consider the time



Figure 7. Time evolution of the Wigner Distribution function in the classical limit for the CCP case. We have taken $\delta t = 1$, $\omega_0 = 1$. The radius of the initial droplet is $\sqrt{2E_f} = 2\sqrt{2}$ and the area, which is conserved in time, is $N\hbar = 2\pi E_f$.

evolution under a harmonic oscillator potential with a time independent frequency. In figure 8 we plot this evolution. As expected, we find that the perturbation maintains its shape throughout all of time. This is a consequence of the harmonic oscillator frequency being time independent. As a result, all points of an initial perturbation of the fermi surface will move at the same angular frequency for all subsequent times leaving its shape unaltered.

Now consider the case where an initial perturbation of the fermi surface of a phase space 'droplet' evolves under the influence of a right side up harmonic oscillator potential with a time dependent frequency. In particular, we consider the ECP quench protocol. We plot this evolution in figures 9, 10. In this case we find something quite interesting. We



Figure 8. Time evolution of a perturbation of the fermi surface for a time independent harmonic oscillator potential. We have taken $\omega_0 = 1$.

see that the perturbation develops what we call a 'fold'. This is a phenomenon in which a phase space point which is further from the fermi surface moves faster than a phase space point which is closer to the fermi surface. As a result, at some time later than the initial time, the outer most phase space points begin 'folding' over towards the fermi surface.

The feature of an initial perturbation developing a fold is characteristic of a system evolving under the influence of a harmonic oscillator potential with any arbitrary time dependent frequency. One can rewrite the phase space coordinates q, p in terms of polar coordinates r, θ . One can then show that $\frac{d\theta}{d\tau} \propto f(\theta, \omega(\tau), \dot{\omega}(\tau))$ and is therefore not constant in time. On the contrary, if $\frac{d\theta}{d\tau} = \text{const}$, then all the phase space points rotate with the same angular frequency. This is exactly the case for the harmonic oscillator potential with a time independent frequency.



Figure 9. Time evolution of a perturbation of the fermi surface for the ECP case. We have taken $\delta t = 1, \omega_0 = 1.$



FHEP08 (2019) 176

Figure 10. We zoom in to the region of the perturbation of the fermi surface to clearly see a 'fold' forming as time evolves.

9 Discussion

In this paper we considered quantum quench in a nonrelativistic field theory of fermions in an external harmonic oscillator or an invererted harmonic oscillator potential with time dependent mass and frequency. While the strategy we outlined to obtain exact solutions hold for both these potentials, we gave results for the right side harmonic potential in this paper. Explicit solutions for the inverted oscillator potential, which corresponds to quantum quench in the Matrix Model description of two dimensional string theory, will be presented in a future publication [73].

We examined scaling behavior of observables in the slow and fast quench regime. We found that the slow quench scaling is consistent with Kibble Zurek, and the fast quench

scaling is a result of perturbation theory. This system is, however, not suitable to explore if there is a universal fast quench scaling. For the latter we would need to examine a translationally invariant system with an upper bound on the energy spectrum (for example a lattice system) so that a Lieb Robinson bound is possible. We are currently investigating the quench problem in situations like this.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Gautam Mandal for many discussions and insights, and E. Kiritsis for a conversation. The work of S.R.D and S.L are partially supported by National Science Foundation grants NSF-PHY/1521045 and NSF/PHY-1818878. The work of S.H is supported by the Lyman T. Johnson postdoctoral fellowship.

A Approximation of $\rho(\tau)^2$ in various limits

In this appendix we explicitly derive approximated $\rho(\tau)^2$ and therefore $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle$ in various limits from the exact CCP solution (4.6) and ECP solution (4.9). In appendix A.1 we study the CCP case and in appendix A.2 we study the ECP case.

A.1 In CCP

Slow quench ($\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$). We consider the behavior at $\tau = 0$, in which case (4.6) can be simplified into

$$f(\tau = 0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \frac{2^{i\omega_0\delta t}}{E_{1/2}\tilde{E}'_{3/2} - E'_{1/2}\tilde{E}_{3/2}}\tilde{E}'_{3/2}.$$
 (A.1)

Notice that in (4.7), $\text{Re}a = \text{Re}b = \text{Re}\alpha \in [1/4, 1/2]$, therefore we can utilize three identities of the Gamma function

$$\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z) = \pi \csc \pi z, 0 < \operatorname{Re} z < 1, \tag{A.2}$$

and

$$\Gamma(1+iy)\Gamma(1-iy) = |\Gamma(1+iy)|^2 = \frac{\pi y}{\sinh \pi y},$$

$$\Gamma(1/2+iy)\Gamma(1/2-iy) = |\Gamma(1/2+iy)|^2 = \frac{\pi}{\cosh \pi y},$$
(A.3)

and simplify the denominator of (A.1) into

$$\begin{split} E_{1/2}\dot{E}'_{3/2} &- E'_{1/2}\dot{E}_{3/2} \\ &= \Gamma(1/2)\Gamma(3/2)|\Gamma(i\omega_0\delta t)|^2 \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(a+1/2)\Gamma(1/2-a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(1-b)} - (a\leftrightarrow b)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\omega_0\delta t \sinh\pi\omega_0\delta t} \left(\sin\pi(1/2-a)\sin(\pi b) - \sin\pi(1/2-b)\sin(\pi a)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\omega_0\delta t \sinh\pi\omega_0\delta t}\sin\pi(b-a) \\ &= \frac{i}{2\omega_0\delta t}. \end{split}$$
(A.4)

On the other hand, according to the asymptotic behavior of the Gamma function

$$\Gamma(z) \sim \sqrt{2\pi} e^{-z + (z - \frac{1}{2})\log z}, z \to \infty \text{ and } |\arg z| < \pi$$
(A.5)

we can find $[\Gamma(z)]^2 \sim \Gamma(z+1/4)\Gamma(z-1/4)$ under the condition. Therefore, the numerator of (A.1) satisfies

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{E}'_{3/2}|^2 \approx &\frac{\pi}{4} \frac{\pi}{\omega_0 \delta t \sinh \pi \omega_0 \delta t} \left| \frac{1}{\Gamma \left(1 + \frac{i}{4} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} - \frac{i}{2} \omega_0 \delta t \right) \Gamma \left(1 - \frac{i}{4} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} - \frac{i}{2} \omega_0 \delta t \right)}{\left| \frac{1}{\Gamma \left(1/2 + \frac{i}{4} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} - \frac{i}{2} \omega_0 \delta t \right) \Gamma \left(1/2 - \frac{i}{4} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} - \frac{i}{2} \omega_0 \delta t \right)} \right| \\ &= &\frac{1}{4} \frac{1}{\omega_0 \delta t \sinh \pi \omega_0 \delta t} \left\{ \frac{\sinh \pi \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} - \omega_0 \delta t \right)}{\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} - \omega_0 \delta t} \frac{\sinh \pi \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} + \omega_0 \delta t \right)}{\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - 1} + \omega_0 \delta t} \right\}^{1/2} \\ &\to &\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\omega_0 \delta t} \left\{ \frac{\pi}{4\omega_0 \delta t} \right\}^{1/2} \end{split}$$
(A.6)

As a result,

$$\rho^{2}(\tau=0) = 2|f|^{2}(\tau=0) = 2\frac{1}{2\omega_{0}}\frac{1}{\frac{1}{(2\omega_{0}\delta t)^{2}}}\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\omega_{0}\delta t}\left\{\frac{\pi}{4\omega_{0}\delta t}\right\}^{1/2} = \sqrt{\pi}\sqrt{\frac{\delta t}{\omega_{0}}}$$
(A.7)

and thus (5.2).

Early time in fast quench ($\omega_0 \tau \ll \omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$). When $\omega_0 \tau \ll \omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$, in (4.7) $a = b^*$, thus the Hypergeometric functions in (4.6) are real. Therefore,

$$E_c^* = E_c(a \leftrightarrow b) = E_c', \tag{A.8}$$

and

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) = \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} \frac{\cosh^{4\alpha}(\tau/\delta t)}{|E_{1/2}\tilde{E}_{3/2}' - E_{1/2}'\tilde{E}_{3/2}|^{2}} \left\{ |\tilde{E}_{3/2}'|^{2} F_{1}^{2}\left(a, b; \frac{1}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right) + |E_{1/2}'|^{2} \sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t} {}_{2}F_{1}^{2}\left(a + \frac{1}{2}, b + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right) + \left(\tilde{E}_{3/2}'E_{1/2} + \tilde{E}_{3/2}E_{1/2}'\right)\sinh\frac{\tau}{\delta t} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(a, b; \frac{1}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right) \\ \times {}_{2}F_{1}\left(a + \frac{1}{2}, b + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right) \right\}.$$
(A.9)

Similar to the calculation of (A.4), we can find

$$E_{1/2}\tilde{E}'_{3/2} + E'_{1/2}\tilde{E}_{3/2} = \frac{1}{2\omega_0 \delta t \sinh \pi \omega_0 \delta t} \sin \pi (b+a) \to \frac{1}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^4 \delta t^4),$$
(A.10)

since $\alpha \sim \frac{1}{2} [1 - \omega_0^2 \delta t^2]$ when $\omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$.

On the other hand, notice that

$$\Gamma(z+\epsilon) \approx \Gamma(z) + \Gamma'(z)\epsilon + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) = \Gamma(z)(1+\epsilon\psi(z)) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2),$$
(A.11)

where $\psi(z) \equiv \Gamma'(z)/\Gamma(z)$ is Digamma function. Moreover, the Gamma function satisfies duplication formula

$$\Gamma(2z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} 2^{2z-1/2} \Gamma(z) \Gamma(z+1/2).$$
 (A.12)

Then we can find

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{E}'_{3/2}|^2 &\approx \frac{\pi}{4} |\Gamma(i\omega_0 \delta t)|^2 \left| \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(1 - 1/2\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right) \Gamma\left(1/2 + 1/2\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)} \right|^2 \\ &\approx \frac{\pi}{4} \frac{|\Gamma(i\omega_0 \delta t)|^2}{|\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)|^2 |\Gamma\left(1/2 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)|^2} \\ &\times \frac{1}{\left[1 - \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 \operatorname{Re}\psi\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)\right] \left[1 + \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 \operatorname{Re}\psi\left(1/2 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)\right]} \\ &\approx \frac{1}{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2} \frac{1}{1 - \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 \operatorname{Re}\psi\left(\frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right) + \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 \operatorname{Re}\psi\left(1/2 + \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)} \end{split}$$
(A.13)

We can further simplify it since

$$\psi(2z) = \frac{1}{2}\psi(z) + \frac{1}{2}\psi\left(z + \frac{1}{2}\right) + \log 2$$
 (A.14)

and

$$\operatorname{Re}\psi(iy) = 1 - \gamma - \frac{1}{1+y^2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n+1} [\zeta(2n+1) - 1] y^{2n}, (|y| < 2)$$

$$\to -\gamma + y^2 + (\zeta(3) - 1) y^2 = -\gamma + \zeta(3) y^2, (|y| \ll 1)$$
(A.15)

and obtain

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{E}'_{3/2}|^2 \approx & \frac{1}{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2} \frac{1}{1 + 2\omega_0^2 \delta t^2 \left[\operatorname{Re}\psi(i\omega_0 \delta t) - \operatorname{Re}\psi(\frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t) - \log 2 \right]} \\ \approx & \frac{1}{4\omega_0^2 \delta t^2} \left\{ 1 + 2\log 2 \cdot \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^4 \delta t^4) \right\}. \end{split}$$
(A.16)

Similarly, we can find

$$|E'_{1/2}|^2 \approx \frac{1}{4} \left\{ 1 - 2\log 2 \cdot \omega_0^2 \delta t^2 + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^4 \delta t^4) \right\}.$$
 (A.17)

Inserting the coefficients back into (A.9), we keep the results to order $\omega_0^2 \delta t^2$ and $\tau/\delta t$, s.t. ${}_2F_1^2(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}; \tilde{c}; -\sinh^2 \frac{\tau}{\delta t}) \sim 1$ for arbitrary (a, b, c). We find

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) = \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} \cosh^{4\alpha}(\tau/\delta t) \left\{ \left\{ 1 + 2\log 2 \cdot \omega_{0}^{2} \delta t^{2} \right\} {}_{2}F_{1}{}^{2} \left(a, b; \frac{1}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \omega_{0}^{2} \delta t^{2} \sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t} {}_{2}F_{1}{}^{2} \left(a + \frac{1}{2}, b + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right) \right. \\ \left. + 2\omega_{0}^{2} \delta t^{2} \sinh\frac{\tau}{\delta t} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(a, b; \frac{1}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right) {}_{2}F_{1} \left(a + \frac{1}{2}, b + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -\sinh^{2}\frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\omega_{0}^{4}\delta t^{4}) \right\} \\ \left. = \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} \left\{ 1 + 2\log 2 \cdot \omega_{0}^{2} \delta t^{2} + 2\omega_{0}^{2} \delta t \cdot \tau + \mathcal{O}\left(\omega_{0}^{4} \delta t^{4}, \frac{\tau^{2}}{\delta t^{2}} \right) \right\}$$

$$(A.18)$$

and therefore (5.9).

Late time in fast quench ($\omega_0 \delta t \ll \omega_0 \tau \ll 1$). Rewrite (4.6) by applying identity

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) = \frac{\Gamma(c)\Gamma(b-a)}{\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c-a)}(-z)^{-a}{}_{2}F_{1}\left(a,1-c+a;1-b+a;\frac{1}{z}\right) + \frac{\Gamma(c)\Gamma(a-b)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-b)}(-z)^{-b}{}_{2}F_{1}\left(b,1-c+b;1-a+b;\frac{1}{z}\right).$$
(A.19)

to each Hypergeometric function on the r.h.s. When $\tau > 0$, $(-z)^{1/2} = \sinh \frac{\tau}{\delta t}$, thus we can find

$$f_{\rm CCP} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \frac{2^{i\omega_0 \delta t} \cosh^{2\alpha}(\tau/\delta t)}{E_{1/2}\tilde{E}'_{3/2} - E'_{1/2}\tilde{E}_{3/2}} \times \left\{ \left(E_{1/2}\tilde{E}'_{3/2} + E'_{1/2}\tilde{E}_{3/2} \right) (-z)^{-a} {}_2F_1\left(a, 1/2 + a; 1 - b + a; \frac{1}{z}\right) + 2E'_{1/2}\tilde{E}'_{3/2}(-z)^{-b} {}_2F_1\left(b + \frac{1}{2}, b; 1 - a + b; \frac{1}{z}\right) \right\},$$
(A.20)

where $z \equiv -\sinh^2 \frac{\tau}{\delta t}$.

Similar calculations to (A.13) show

$$2E_{1/2}'\tilde{E}_{3/2}' = 2\frac{\pi}{2}\Gamma(-i\omega_0\delta t)^2 \cdot \frac{1}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(a+1/2)\Gamma(1/2-b)\Gamma(1-b)}$$

$$= 2\frac{\pi}{2}\Gamma(-i\omega_0\delta t)^2 \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}2^{2a-1/2}\frac{1}{\Gamma(2a)} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}2^{2(1/2-b)-1/2}\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-2b)}\right)$$

$$\approx \frac{1}{2} \cdot 2^{-i2\omega_0\delta t}\frac{\Gamma(-i\omega_0\delta t)^2}{\Gamma(1-i\omega_0\delta t)\left(1-\omega_0^2\delta t^2\psi(1-i\omega_0\delta t)\right)\Gamma(-i\omega_0\delta t)\left(1+\omega_0^2\delta t^2\psi(-i\omega_0\delta t)\right)}$$

$$\approx \frac{i}{2\omega_0\delta t} \cdot 2^{-i2\omega_0\delta t}\frac{1}{\left[1+\omega_0^2\delta t^2\left(\psi(-i\omega_0\delta t)-\psi(1-i\omega_0\delta t)\right)\right]}$$
(A.21)

We further simplify the equation by using relations

$$\operatorname{Re}\psi(iy) = \operatorname{Re}\psi(-iy) = \operatorname{Re}\psi(1+iy) = \operatorname{Re}\psi(1-iy), \qquad (A.22)$$

and

$$\mathrm{Im}\psi(iy) = \frac{1}{2y} + \frac{1}{2}\pi\mathrm{coth}\pi y,\tag{A.23}$$

$$Im\psi(1+iy) = -\frac{1}{2y} + \frac{1}{2}\pi \coth\pi y.$$
 (A.24)

Then we see that

$$\psi(-i\omega_0\delta t) - \psi(1 - i\omega_0\delta t) = i\mathrm{Im}\psi(-i\omega_0\delta t) - i\mathrm{Im}\psi(1 - i\omega_0\delta t) = -\frac{i}{\omega_0\delta t}$$
(A.25)

thus

$$2E'_{1/2}\tilde{E}'_{3/2} = \frac{i}{2\omega_0 \delta t} \cdot 2^{-i2\omega_0 \delta t} \frac{1}{1 - i\omega_0 \delta t}$$
(A.26)

Notice that when $\tau \gg \delta t$, $-\sinh^2 \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \to -\frac{e^{2\tau/\delta t}}{4} + \frac{1}{2}$, $\cosh^2 \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \to \frac{e^{2\tau/\delta t}}{4} + \frac{1}{2}$, and therefore ${}_2F_1 \to 1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2\tau/\delta t})$. Thus, after inserting the coefficients into (A.20) and expanding the result to the order $\omega_0 \delta t$, we obtain

$$f = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \cosh^{2\alpha}(\tau/\delta t) \left\{ -i\omega_0 \delta t 2^{i\omega_0 \delta t} (-z)^{-a} {}_2F_1\left(a, 1/2 + a; 1 - b + a; \frac{1}{z}\right) + (1 + i\omega_0 \delta t) 2^{-i\omega_0 \delta t} (-z)^{-b} {}_2F_1\left(b + \frac{1}{2}, b; 1 - a + b; \frac{1}{z}\right)\right\}$$

$$\to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \left(\frac{e^{\tau/\delta t}}{2}\right)^{2\alpha} \left\{ -i\omega_0 \delta t 2^{i\omega_0 \delta t} \left(\frac{e^{\tau/\delta t}}{2}\right)^{-2a} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2\tau/\delta t})\right) + (1 + i\omega_0 \delta t) 2^{-i\omega_0 \delta t} \left(\frac{e^{\tau/\delta t}}{2}\right)^{-2b} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2\tau/\delta t})\right) + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^2 \delta t^2)\right\}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \left\{ e^{-i\omega_0 \tau} + 2\omega_0 \delta t \sin\omega_0 \tau + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^2 \delta t^2) \right\}.$$
(A.27)

i.e.

$$\rho^2(\tau) = 2|f|^2 \approx \frac{1}{\omega_0} \left(1 + 2\omega_0 \delta t \sin 2\omega_0 \tau + \mathcal{O}(\omega_0^2 \delta t^2), \right)$$
(A.28)

and therefore (5.11).

A.2 In ECP

Late-time approximation ($\tau \gg \delta t$, and $\tau \gg \delta t \log \omega_0 \delta t$). According to identity

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;a+b;z) = \frac{\Gamma(a+b)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{n}(b)_{n}}{(n!)^{2}} [2\psi(n+1) - \psi(a+n) - \psi(b+n) - \log(1-z)](1-z)^{n}, \quad (A.29)$$
$$(|1-z| < 1\&|\arg(1-z)| < \pi)$$

we can see that for large $\tau/\delta t$, in which case

$$z \equiv \frac{1 + \tanh(\tau/\delta t)}{2} = 1 - e^{-2\tau/\delta t},$$
 (A.30)

eq. (4.9) can be rewritten into

$$\begin{split} f_{\rm ECP} &\to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \exp\left[-\frac{i}{2}\omega_0\tau + \frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t\log(e^{\tau/\delta t})\right] {}_2F_1\left[1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t, -\frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t; 1 - i\omega_0\delta t; 1 - e^{-2\tau/\delta t}\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \frac{\Gamma(1 - i\omega_0\delta t)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t\right)} \times \\ &\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t\right)_n \left(-\frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t\right)_n}{(n!)^2} \left[2\psi(n+1) - \psi\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t + n\right) - \psi\left(-\frac{i}{2}\omega_0\delta t + n\right) + 2\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right] \\ &\times (e^{-2\tau/\delta t})^n \end{split}$$
(A.31)

When $\tau \gg \delta t \log \omega_0 \delta t$, one can keep the leading term,³ then by using Digamma function

$$\psi(1) = -\gamma_E \tag{A.32}$$

and

$$\psi(1-z) = \psi(z) + \pi \cot \pi z, \qquad (A.33)$$

we find

$$f_{\rm ECP} \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_0}} \frac{\Gamma(1 - i\omega_0 \delta t)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right) \Gamma\left(-\frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right)} \left[-2\gamma_E - 2\Re\psi\left(\frac{i}{2}\omega_0 \delta t\right) + i\pi \coth\frac{\pi\omega_0 \delta t}{2} + 2\frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right] \\ + \mathcal{O}(e^{-2\tau/\delta t}) \tag{A.34}$$

Therefore,

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) \sim \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} \left| \frac{\Gamma(1 - i\omega_{0}\delta t)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{i}{2}\omega_{0}\delta t\right)\Gamma\left(-\frac{i}{2}\omega_{0}\delta t\right)} \right|^{2} \times \left[\left(-2\gamma_{E} - 2\Re\psi\left(\frac{i}{2}\omega_{0}\delta t\right) + 2\frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right)^{2} + \left(\pi\coth\frac{\pi\omega_{0}\delta t}{2}\right)^{2} \right]$$

$$= \delta t \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\coth\frac{\pi\omega_{0}\delta t}{2}\right)^{-1} \left(-\gamma_{E} - \Re\psi\left(\frac{i}{2}\omega_{0}\delta t\right) + \frac{\tau}{\delta t}\right)^{2} + \delta t \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\coth\frac{\pi\omega_{0}\delta t}{2}\right).$$
(A.35)

One special case of $\rho^2(\tau)$ is when $\omega_0 \delta t \ll 1$, in which $\frac{\pi}{2} \coth \frac{\pi \omega_0 \delta t}{2} \sim \frac{1}{\omega_0 \delta t}$. Therefore,

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) \sim \omega_{0} \delta t^{2} \left(-\frac{\zeta(3)}{4} \omega_{0}^{2} \delta t^{2} + \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} = \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} + \omega_{0} \tau^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\omega_{0}^{3} \delta t^{3}).$$
(6.8)

according to identity (A.15). Another case is when $\omega_0 \delta t \gg 1$, in which $\coth \frac{\pi \omega_0 \delta t}{2} \to 1$. Thus by using the identity

$$\Re\psi(iy) \approx \log y + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n-1} B_{2n}}{2ny^{2n}} \sim \log y + \mathcal{O}(y^{-2}), \ y \to \infty$$
(A.36)

we can find

$$\rho^{2}(\tau) \sim \delta t \left[\frac{2}{\pi} \left(-\log \omega_{0} \delta t + \log 2 - \gamma_{E} + \frac{\tau}{\delta t} \right)^{2} + \frac{\pi}{2} \right]$$
(6.7)

 ${}^{3}\tau \geq \delta t \log \omega_0 \delta t$ is a sufficient condition to keep (A.31) to the leading term.

B Entanglement entropy

In this appendix we explicitly derive the approximated Entanglement Entropy (7.6) and (7.8). In appendix B.1 we figure out $\langle N_A \rangle$ and in appendix B.2, we figure out $\int_{A_P \times A_P} dx dy |C(x,y)|^2$.

B.1
$$\langle N_A \rangle$$

First, we rewrite $\langle N_A \rangle$ into

$$\langle N_A \rangle = \frac{1}{\Gamma(N) 2^N \sqrt{\pi}} \int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathrm{d}\xi \mathrm{d}\eta \delta(\xi - \eta) e^{-\frac{\xi^2 + \eta^2}{2}} \frac{H_{N-1}(\eta) H_N(\xi) - H_{N-1}(\xi) H_N(\eta)}{\xi - \eta}$$
(B.1)

s.t. $\langle N_A \rangle$ has similar form to $\int_{A_P \times A_P} dx dy |C(x,y)|^2$ in (7.4). One can easily prove that (B.1) and (7.4) are identical.

In the large N limit, the Hermite polynomial shows the following asymptotic behavior

$$e^{-\frac{x^2}{2}} \cdot H_n(x) \sim \frac{2^n}{\sqrt{\pi}} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right) \cos\left(x\sqrt{2n} - \frac{n\pi}{2}\right)$$
 (B.2)

We use this to simplify the integrand on the r.h.s. of (7.4) or (B.1),

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(N)2^{N}\sqrt{\pi}}e^{-\frac{\xi^{2}+\eta^{2}}{2}}\left[H_{N-1}(\eta)H_{N}(\xi)-H_{N-1}(\xi)H_{N}(\eta)\right] \\
=\frac{1}{2\pi}\left[-(-1)^{N}\sin\left(\eta\sqrt{2N-2}+\xi\sqrt{2N}\right)-\sin\left(\eta\sqrt{2N-2}-\xi\sqrt{2N}\right)\right. (B.3) \\
+(-1)^{N}\sin\left(\xi\sqrt{2N-2}+\eta\sqrt{2N}\right)+\sin\left(\xi\sqrt{2N-2}-\eta\sqrt{2N}\right)\right].$$

Now, change the variables of integration by defining

$$u \equiv \frac{\xi + \eta}{\sqrt{2}}, v \equiv \frac{\xi - \eta}{\sqrt{2}},\tag{B.4}$$

and we obtain

$$\langle N_A \rangle = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{A_P \times A_P} du dv \frac{\delta(v)}{v} \left\{ -(-1)^N \cos\left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})u\right] \sin\left[\frac{v}{\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N}}\right] \right.$$

$$+ \cos\left[-\frac{u}{\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N}}\right] \sin\left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})v\right] \right\}.$$
(B.5)

Note that

$$\int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v = \int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}} \mathrm{d}u \int_{|v| \le \sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} - u} \mathrm{d}v + \int_{-\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}}^0 \mathrm{d}u \int_{|v| \le \sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} + u} \mathrm{d}v = 2\int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}} \mathrm{d}u \int_{|v| \le \sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} - u} \mathrm{d}v$$
(B.6)

since the integrand is even for both u and v. Moreover, because of the Dirac delta function,

$$\int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v \to 2 \int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}} \mathrm{d}u \int_{-\epsilon}^{\epsilon} \mathrm{d}v, \tag{B.7}$$

and the integrand can be expanded around v = 0:

$$\langle N_A \rangle = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}} du \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} dv \delta(v) \left\{ -(-1)^N \cos\left[\left(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}\right)u\right] \frac{1}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}} \right. \\ \left. + \cos\left[-\frac{u}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}}\right] \left(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}\right) \right\}$$

$$\left. = \frac{1}{\pi} \left\{ (-1)^{N-1} \sin\left[\left(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}\right)\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}\right] \frac{1}{(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N})^2} \right.$$

$$\left. + \sin\left[\frac{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}}\right] \left(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}\right)^2 \right\}$$

$$\left. \rightarrow \frac{1}{\pi} \left(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}\right)\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{N}\right) \right.$$

$$\left. \left. \right\}$$

$$\left. \left. \right\}$$

$$\left. \left. \right\}$$

$$\left. \left. \right\}$$

$$\left. \right\}$$

$$\left. \left. \right\}$$

when

$$\frac{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}} \ll 1. \tag{7.1}$$

B.2 $\int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathbf{d}x \mathbf{d}y |C(x,y)|^2$ Similar to $\langle N_A \rangle$ (appendix **B**.1),

$$\int_{A_P \times A_P} dx dy |C(x,y)|^2$$

$$\approx \frac{2}{\pi^2} \int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}} dv \int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}-v} du \frac{1}{v^2} \left\{ -(-1)^N \cos\left[(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N})u\right] \sin\left[\frac{v}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}}\right] \right.$$

$$\left. + \cos\left[\frac{u}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}}\right] \sin\left[(\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N})v\right] \right\}^2. \tag{B.9}$$
In the limit (7.1)

In the limit (7.1),

$$\sin\left[\frac{v}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}}\right] \sim \frac{v}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}} \ll 1 \sim \cos\left[\frac{u}{\sqrt{N-1}+\sqrt{N}}\right]. \tag{B.10}$$

This implies that we can ignore the 1^{st} term in the integrand of (B.9) and replace the cosine by 1. As a result,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y |C(x,y)|^2 \to \frac{2}{\pi^2} \int_0^{\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho}} \mathrm{d}v \frac{1}{v^2} \sin^2 \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})v \right] \left(\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} - v \right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\pi^2} \left\{ 1 + \gamma_E - \cos \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})2\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} \right] - \mathrm{Ci} \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})2\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} \right] \right. \\ &\left. + \log \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})2\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} \right] - \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})2\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} \right] \mathrm{Si} \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})2\sqrt{2}\frac{a}{\rho} \right] \right\} \\ &\left. (\mathrm{B.11}) \right] \end{split}$$

The asymptotic behaviors of Trigonometric integrals are

$$\operatorname{Si}(x) = \frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{\cos x}{x} \left(1 - \frac{2!}{x^2} + \frac{4!}{x^4} - \frac{6!}{x^6} \cdots \right) - \frac{\sin x}{x} \left(\frac{1}{x} - \frac{3!}{x^3} + \frac{5!}{x^5} - \frac{7!}{x^7} \cdots \right)$$

$$\operatorname{Ci}(x) = \frac{\sin x}{x} \left(1 - \frac{2!}{x^2} + \frac{4!}{x^4} - \frac{6!}{x^6} \cdots \right) - \frac{\cos x}{x} \left(\frac{1}{x} - \frac{3!}{x^3} + \frac{5!}{x^5} - \frac{7!}{x^7} \cdots \right)$$
(B.12)

when $x \to \infty$, and

$$\operatorname{Si}(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n x^{2n+1}}{(2n+1)(2n+1)!} = x - \frac{x^3}{3! \cdot 3} + \frac{x^5}{5! \cdot 5} - \frac{x^7}{7! \cdot 7} \pm \cdots$$

$$\operatorname{Ci}(x) = \gamma_E + \ln x + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n x^{2n}}{2n(2n)!} = \gamma_E + \ln x - \frac{x^2}{2! \cdot 2} + \frac{x^4}{4! \cdot 4} \mp \cdots$$
(B.13)

when $x \ll 1$. Thus (B.11) can be further simplified into

$$\int_{A_P \times A_P} dx dy |C(x,y)|^2 \rightarrow - \frac{1}{\pi^2} \left\{ 1 + \gamma_E + \log \left[(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N}) 2\sqrt{2} \frac{a}{\rho} \right] \right\} + \frac{1}{\pi} (\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N}) \sqrt{2} \frac{a}{\rho},$$
(B.14)

when

 $\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N} \gg \frac{a}{\rho} \gg \sqrt{N} - \sqrt{N-1};$ (7.5)

and

$$\int_{A_P \times A_P} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y |C(x,y)|^2 \to 0 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{Na^2}{\rho^2}\right),\tag{B.15}$$

when

$$(\sqrt{N-1} + \sqrt{N})\frac{a}{\rho} \ll 1.$$
(7.7)

Inserting (B.14) and (B.15) back into (3.11) together with (B.8), one can get (7.6) and (7.8), respectively.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- S. Mondal, D. Sen and K. Sengupta, Non-equilibrium dynamics of quantum systems, order parameter evolution, defect generation, and qubit transfer, Quantum Quenching, Anealing and Computation, Lecture Notes Phys. 802 (2010) 21 [arXiv:0908.2922].
- [2] V. Gritsev and A. Polkovnikov, Universal Dynamics Near Quantum Critical Points, in Understanding Quantum Phase Transitions, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton U.S.A. (2009)
 [arXiv:0910.3692] [INSPIRE].
- [3] J. Dziarmaga, Dynamics of a quantum phase transition and relaxation to a steady state, Adv. Phys. 59 (2010) 1063 [arXiv:0912.4034].
- [4] A. Polkovnikov, K. Sengupta, A. Silva and M. Vengalattore, Nonequilibrium dynamics of closed interacting quantum systems, Rev. Mod. Phys. 83 (2011) 863 [arXiv:1007.5331]
 [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Lamacraft and J.E. Moore, Potential insights into non-equilibrium behaviour from atomic physics, in Ultracold Bosonic and Fermionic Gases, Contemporary Concepts in Condensed Matter Science, Elsevier, Amsterdam The Netherlands (2011) [arXiv:1106.3567].

- [6] T.W.B. Kibble, Topology of Cosmic Domains and Strings, J. Phys. A 9 (1976) 1387 [INSPIRE].
- [7] W.H. Zurek, Cosmological Experiments in Superfluid Helium?, Nature 317 (1985) 505 [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Chandran, A. Erez, S.S. Gubser and S.L. Sondhi, Kibble-Zurek problem: Universality and the scaling limit, Phys. Rev. B 86 (2012) 064304 [arXiv:1202.5277].
- [9] L. Cincio, J. Dziarmaga, M.M. Rams and W.H. Zurek, Entropy of entanglement and correlations induced by a quench: Dynamics of a quantum phase transition in the quantum Ising model, Phys. Rev. A 75 (2007) 052321 [cond-mat/0701768] [INSPIRE].
- [10] F. Pollmann, S. Mukherjee, A.G. Green and J.E. Moore, Dynamics after a sweep through a quantum critical point, Phys. Rev. E 81 (2010) 020101.
- [11] A. Francuz, J. Dziarmaga, B. Gardas and W.H. Zurek, Space and time renormalization in phase transition dynamics, Phys. Rev. B 93 (2016) 075134 [arXiv:1510.06132] [INSPIRE].
- [12] E. Canovi, E. Ercolessi, P. Naldesi, L. Taddia and D. Vodola, Dynamics of entanglement entropy and entanglement spectrum crossing a quantum phase transition, *Phys. Rev.* B 89 (2014) 104303.
- [13] P. Caputa, S.R. Das, M. Nozaki and A. Tomiya, Quantum Quench and Scaling of Entanglement Entropy, Phys. Lett. B 772 (2017) 53 [arXiv:1702.04359] [INSPIRE].
- [14] P. Basu and S.R. Das, Quantum Quench across a Holographic Critical Point, JHEP 01 (2012) 103 [arXiv:1109.3909] [INSPIRE].
- [15] P. Basu, D. Das, S.R. Das and T. Nishioka, Quantum Quench Across a Zero Temperature Holographic Superfluid Transition, JHEP 03 (2013) 146 [arXiv:1211.7076] [INSPIRE].
- [16] P. Basu, D. Das, S.R. Das and K. Sengupta, Quantum Quench and Double Trace Couplings, JHEP 12 (2013) 070 [arXiv:1308.4061] [INSPIRE].
- [17] P.M. Chesler, A.M. Garcia-Garcia and H. Liu, Defect Formation beyond Kibble-Zurek Mechanism and Holography, Phys. Rev. X 5 (2015) 021015 [arXiv:1407.1862] [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Sonner, A. del Campo and W.H. Zurek, Universal far-from-equilibrium Dynamics of a Holographic Superconductor, arXiv:1406.2329 [INSPIRE].
- [19] S.R. Das and T. Morita, Kibble-Zurek Scaling in Holographic Quantum Quench : Backreaction, JHEP 01 (2015) 084 [arXiv:1409.7361] [INSPIRE].
- [20] P. Calabrese and J.L. Cardy, Time-dependence of correlation functions following a quantum quench, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 136801 [cond-mat/0601225] [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, Quantum Quenches in Extended Systems, J. Stat. Mech. 0706 (2007) P06008 [arXiv:0704.1880] [INSPIRE].
- [22] S. Sotiriadis and J. Cardy, Quantum quench in interacting field theory: A Self-consistent approximation, Phys. Rev. B 81 (2010) 134305 [arXiv:1002.0167] [INSPIRE].
- [23] H. Liu and S.J. Suh, Entanglement Tsunami: Universal Scaling in Holographic Thermalization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 011601 [arXiv:1305.7244] [INSPIRE].
- [24] H. Casini, H. Liu and M. Mezei, Spread of entanglement and causality, JHEP 07 (2016) 077 [arXiv:1509.05044] [INSPIRE].

- [25] M. Mezei and D. Stanford, On entanglement spreading in chaotic systems, JHEP 05 (2017) 065 [arXiv:1608.05101] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J.S. Cotler, M.P. Hertzberg, M. Mezei and M.T. Mueller, Entanglement Growth after a Global Quench in Free Scalar Field Theory, JHEP 11 (2016) 166 [arXiv:1609.00872]
 [INSPIRE].
- [27] T. Hartman and J. Maldacena, Time Evolution of Entanglement Entropy from Black Hole Interiors, JHEP 05 (2013) 014 [arXiv:1303.1080] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Nozaki, T. Numasawa, A. Prudenziati and T. Takayanagi, Dynamics of Entanglement Entropy from Einstein Equation, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 026012 [arXiv:1304.7100] [INSPIRE].
- [29] H. Liu and S.J. Suh, Entanglement Tsunami: Universal Scaling in Holographic Thermalization, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 011601 [arXiv:1305.7244] [INSPIRE].
- [30] P. Caputa, G. Mandal and R. Sinha, Dynamical entanglement entropy with angular momentum and U(1) charge, JHEP 11 (2013) 052 [arXiv:1306.4974] [INSPIRE].
- [31] H. Liu and S.J. Suh, Entanglement growth during thermalization in holographic systems, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 066012 [arXiv:1311.1200] [INSPIRE].
- [32] T. Anous, T. Hartman, A. Rovai and J. Sonner, Black Hole Collapse in the 1/c Expansion, JHEP 07 (2016) 123 [arXiv:1603.04856] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S.R. Das, D.A. Galante and R.C. Myers, Universal scaling in fast quantum quenches in conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 171601 [arXiv:1401.0560] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S.R. Das, D.A. Galante and R.C. Myers, Universality in fast quantum quenches, JHEP 02 (2015) 167 [arXiv:1411.7710] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S.R. Das, D.A. Galante and R.C. Myers, Smooth and fast versus instantaneous quenches in quantum field theory, JHEP 08 (2015) 073 [arXiv:1505.05224] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Buchel, L. Lehner and R.C. Myers, *Thermal quenches in N = 2* plasmas*, *JHEP* 08 (2012) 049 [arXiv:1206.6785] [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Buchel, L. Lehner, R.C. Myers and A. van Niekerk, Quantum quenches of holographic plasmas, JHEP 05 (2013) 067 [arXiv:1302.2924] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Buchel, R.C. Myers and A. van Niekerk, Universality of Abrupt Holographic Quenches, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 201602 [arXiv:1307.4740] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Dymarsky and M. Smolkin, Universality of fast quenches from the conformal perturbation theory, JHEP 01 (2018) 112 [arXiv:1709.08654] [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Goykhman, T. Shachar and M. Smolkin, On fast quenches and spinning correlators, JHEP 06 (2018) 168 [arXiv:1804.03855] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Goykhman, T. Shachar and M. Smolkin, On quantum quenches at one loop, JHEP 01 (2019) 022 [arXiv:1810.02258] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S.R. Das, D.A. Galante and R.C. Myers, Quantum Quenches in Free Field Theory: Universal Scaling at Any Rate, JHEP 05 (2016) 164 [arXiv:1602.08547] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Das, S.R. Das, D.A. Galante, R.C. Myers and K. Sengupta, An exactly solvable quench protocol for integrable spin models, JHEP 11 (2017) 157 [arXiv:1706.02322] [INSPIRE].

- [44] H.A. Camargo, P. Caputa, D. Das, M.P. Heller and R. Jefferson, Complexity as a novel probe of quantum quenches: universal scalings and purifications, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 081601 [arXiv:1807.07075] [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Liu, Complexity and scaling in quantum quench in 1+1 dimensional fermionic field theories, JHEP 07 (2019) 104 [arXiv:1902.02945] [INSPIRE].
- [46] D.W.F. Alves and G. Camilo, Evolution of complexity following a quantum quench in free field theory, JHEP 06 (2018) 029 [arXiv:1804.00107] [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Ali, A. Bhattacharyya, S. Shajidul Haque, E.H. Kim and N. Moynihan, Post-Quench Evolution of Distance and Uncertainty in a Topological System: Complexity, Entanglement and Revivals, arXiv:1811.05985 [INSPIRE].
- [48] E.H. Lieb and D.W. Robinson, The finite group velocity of quantum spin systems, Commun. Math. Phys. 28 (1972) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [49] M.R. Mohammadi Mozaffar and A. Mollabashi, Entanglement Evolution in Lifshitz-type Scalar Theories, JHEP 01 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1811.11470] [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Kormos, M. Collura and P. Calabrese, Analytic results for a quantum quench from free to hard-core one dimensional bosons, Phys. Rev. A 89 (2014) 013609 [arXiv:1307.2142]
 [INSPIRE].
- [51] B. Bertini, Approximate light cone effects in a non-relativistic quantum field theory after a local quench, Phys. Rev. B 95 (2017) 075153 [arXiv:1611.05030] [INSPIRE].
- [52] I.A. Pedrosa, Exact wave functions of a harmonic oscillator with time-dependent mass and frequency, Phys. Rev. A 55 (1997) 3219.
- [53] O. Ciftja, A simple derivation of the exact wavefunction of a harmonic oscillator with time-dependent mass and frequency, J. Math. A 32 (1999) 6385.
- [54] S.P. Kim and W. Kim, Construction of exact Ermakov-Pinney solutions and time-dependent quantum oscillators, J. Korean Phys. Soc. 69 (2016) 1513 [arXiv:1609.00248] [INSPIRE].
- [55] I.R. Klebanov, String theory in two-dimensions, in Spring School on String Theory and Quantum Gravity, Trieste Italy (1991), pg. 30 [hep-th/9108019] [INSPIRE].
- [56] S.R. Das, The one-dimensional matrix model and string theory, in Spring School on Superstrings, Trieste Italy (1992), pg. 172 [hep-th/9211085] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Jevicki, Development in 2 D string theory, in Workshop on String Theory, Gauge Theory and Quantum Gravity, Trieste Italy (1993), pg. 96 [hep-th/9309115] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P.H. Ginsparg and G.W. Moore, Lectures on 2-D gravity and 2-D string theory, Yale University, New Haven U.S.A. (1992), YCTP-P23-92 [hep-th/9304011].
- [59] P.M. Chesler and L.G. Yaffe, Horizon formation and far-from-equilibrium isotropization in supersymmetric Yang-Mills plasma, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 211601 [arXiv:0812.2053]
 [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Bhattacharyya and S. Minwalla, Weak Field Black Hole Formation in Asymptotically AdS Spacetimes, JHEP 09 (2009) 034 [arXiv:0904.0464] [INSPIRE].
- [61] S.R. Das, J. Michelson, K. Narayan and S.P. Trivedi, *Time dependent cosmologies and their duals*, *Phys. Rev.* D 74 (2006) 026002 [hep-th/0602107] [INSPIRE].

- [62] A. Awad, S.R. Das, S. Nampuri, K. Narayan and S.P. Trivedi, Gauge Theories with Time Dependent Couplings and their Cosmological Duals, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 046004 [arXiv:0807.1517] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Awad, S.R. Das, A. Ghosh, J.-H. Oh and S.P. Trivedi, Slowly Varying Dilaton Cosmologies and their Field Theory Duals, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 126011 [arXiv:0906.3275] [INSPIRE].
- [64] C.-S. Chu and P.-M. Ho, Time-dependent AdS/CFT duality and null singularity, JHEP 04 (2006) 013 [hep-th/0602054] [INSPIRE].
- [65] C.-S. Chu and P.-M. Ho, Spacetime singularity and AdS/CFT for time dependent background, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 171 (2007) 133 [INSPIRE].
- [66] C.-S. Chu and P.-M. Ho, Time-dependent AdS/CFT duality. II. Holographic reconstruction of bulk metric and possible resolution of singularity, JHEP 02 (2008) 058 [arXiv:0710.2640] [INSPIRE].
- [67] N. Turok, B. Craps and T. Hertog, From big crunch to big bang with AdS/CFT, arXiv:0711.1824 [INSPIRE].
- [68] B. Craps, T. Hertog and N. Turok, On the Quantum Resolution of Cosmological Singularities using AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 043513 [arXiv:0712.4180] [INSPIRE].
- [69] N. Engelhardt, T. Hertog and G.T. Horowitz, Holographic Signatures of Cosmological Singularities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 121602 [arXiv:1404.2309] [INSPIRE].
- [70] N. Engelhardt, T. Hertog and G.T. Horowitz, Further Holographic Investigations of Big Bang Singularities, JHEP 07 (2015) 044 [arXiv:1503.08838] [INSPIRE].
- [71] N. Engelhardt and G.T. Horowitz, Holographic Consequences of a No Transmission Principle, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 026005 [arXiv:1509.07509] [INSPIRE].
- [72] R.H. Brandenberger, E.G.M. Ferreira, I.A. Morrison, Y.-F. Cai, S.R. Das and Y. Wang, Fluctuations in a cosmology with a spacelike singularity and their gauge theory dual description, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 083508 [arXiv:1601.00231] [INSPIRE].
- [73] S.R. Das, S. Hampton and S. Liu, to appear.
- [74] H. Lin, O. Lunin and J.M. Maldacena, Bubbling AdS space and 1/2 BPS geometries, JHEP 10 (2004) 025 [hep-th/0409174] [INSPIRE].
- [75] G. Mandal, Fermions from half-BPS supergravity, JHEP 08 (2005) 052 [hep-th/0502104]
 [INSPIRE].
- [76] G. Mandal and N.V. Suryanarayana, Counting 1/8-BPS dual-giants, JHEP 03 (2007) 031
 [hep-th/0606088] [INSPIRE].
- [77] G. Mandal and T. Morita, Quantum quench in matrix models: Dynamical phase transitions, Selective equilibration and the Generalized Gibbs Ensemble, JHEP 10 (2013) 197
 [arXiv:1302.0859] [INSPIRE].
- M. Kulkarni, G. Mandal and T. Morita, Quantum quench and thermalization of one-dimensional Fermi gas via phase space hydrodynamics, Phys. Rev. A 98 (2018) 043610
 [arXiv:1806.09343] [INSPIRE].
- [79] M. Collura, S. Sotiriadis and P. Calabrese, Equilibration of a Tonks-Girardeau Gas Following a Trap Release, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 245301.

- [80] M. Collura, S. Sotiriadis and P. Calabrese, Quench dynamics of a Tonks-Girardeau gas released from a harmonic trap, J. Stat. Mech. 2013 (2013) P09025.
- [81] M. Collura, S. Kormos and P. Calabrese, Stationary entanglement entropies following an interaction quench in 1D Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. 2014 (2014) P01009.
- [82] M. Kormos, A. Shashi, Y.-Z. Chou, J.-S. Caux and A. Imambekov, Interaction quenches in the one-dimensional Bose gas, Phys. Rev. B 88 (2013) 205131 [arXiv:1305.7202] [INSPIRE].
- [83] P. Mazza, M. Collura, S. Kormos and P. Calabrese, Interaction quench in a trapped one-dimensional Bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. 2014 (2014) P11016.
- [84] M. Collura, S. Kormos and P. Calabrese, Quantum quench in a harmonically trapped one-dimensional Bose gas, Phys. Rev. A 97 (2018) 033609.
- [85] A. Minguzzi and D. M. Gangardt, Exact Coherent States of a Harmonically Confined Tonks-Girardeau Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 240404 [cond-mat/0504024].
- [86] S. Scopa, J. Unterberger and D. Karevski, Exact dynamics of a one dimensional bose gas in a periodic time-dependent harmonic trap, J. Phys. A 51 (18) (2018) 185001 [arXiv:1801.07462]
- [87] M. Kulkarni and A.G. Abanov, Cold Fermi-gas with long range interaction in a harmonic trap, Nucl. Phys. B 846 (2011) 122 [arXiv:1006.0966] [INSPIRE].
- [88] E. Bettelheim, A.G. Abanov and P. Weigmann, Orthogonality Catastrophe and Shock Waves in a Nonequilibrium Fermi Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 246402.
- [89] P. Ruggiero, Y. Brun and J. Dubail, Conformal field theory on top of a breathing one-dimensional gas of hard core bosons, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 051 [arXiv:1901.08132] [INSPIRE].
- [90] S. Scopa and D. Karevski, One-dimensional bose gas driven by a slow time-dependent harmonic trap, J. Phys. A 50 (42) (2017) 425301.
- [91] S. Ghosh, K.S. Gupta and S.C.L. Srivastava, Entanglement dynamics following a sudden quench: An exact solution, EPL 120 (2017) 50005 [arXiv:1709.02202] [INSPIRE].
- [92] V.P. Ermakov, Second-order differential equations: conditions for complete integrability, Univ. Izv. Kiev. 20 (1880) 1.
- [93] E. Pinney, The nonlinear differential equation $y'' + p(x)y + cy^{-3} = 0$, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 1 (1950) 681.
- [94] A. Dhar, G. Mandal and S.R. Wadia, Classical Fermi fluid and geometric action for c = 1, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 8 (1993) 325 [hep-th/9204028] [INSPIRE].
- [95] A. Dhar, G. Mandal and S.R. Wadia, Nonrelativistic fermions, coadjoint orbits of W(infinity) and string field theory at c = 1, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 7 (1992) 3129
 [hep-th/9207011] [INSPIRE].
- [96] A. Dhar, G. Mandal and S.R. Wadia, W(infinity) coherent states and path integral derivation of bosonization of nonrelativistic fermions in one-dimension, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 8 (1993) 3557 [hep-th/9309028] [INSPIRE].
- [97] I. Klich and L. Levitov, Quantum Noise as an Entanglement Meter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 100502 [arXiv:0804.1377] [INSPIRE].

- [98] H.F. Song, S. Rachel, C. Flindt, I. Klich, N. Laflorencie and K. Le Hur, *Bipartite Fluctuations as a Probe of Many-Body Entanglement*, *Phys. Rev.* B 85 (2012) 035409 [arXiv:1109.1001] [INSPIRE].
- [99] I. Peschel, Calculation of reduced density matrices from correlation functions, J. Phys. A 36 (2003) L205 [cond-mat/0212631].
- [100] I. Kilch, Lower entropy bounds and particle number fluctuations in a Fermi sea, J. Phys. A 39 (2006) L85 [quant-ph/0406068].
- [101] P. Calabrese, M. Mintchev and E. Vicari, The entanglement entropy of one-dimensional gases, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 020601 [arXiv:1105.4756] [INSPIRE].
- [102] P. Calabrese, M. Mintchev and E. Vicari, The Entanglement entropy of 1D systems in continuous and homogenous space, J. Stat. Mech. 1109 (2011) P09028 [arXiv:1107.3985]
 [INSPIRE].
- [103] S.R. Das, Geometric entropy of nonrelativistic fermions and two-dimensional strings, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 6901 [hep-th/9501090] [INSPIRE].
- [104] S.R. Das, Degrees of freedom in two-dimensional string theory, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. B 45 (1996) 224 [hep-th/9511214] [INSPIRE].
- [105] S.A. Hartnoll and E. Mazenc, Entanglement entropy in two dimensional string theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 121602 [arXiv:1504.07985] [INSPIRE].
- [106] P. Calabrese, P. Le Doussal and S. Majumdar, Random matrices and entanglement entropy of trapped Fermi gases, Phys. Rev. A 91 (2015) 012303.